NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD

Form 10-Q

Hamilton, HM08

November 03, 2017 <u>Table of Contents</u>	
UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION	
Washington, D.C. 20549	
FORM 10-Q	
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)	
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	
For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2017	
Commission File Number: 001-32657	
NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD.	
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)	
Bermuda (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	98-0363970 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
Crown House	
Second Floor	
4 Par-la-Ville Road	

n	_				.1	_
В	eı	rr	n	u	a	а

(441) 292-1510

(Address of principal executive office)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

YES NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate website, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

YES NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer", "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large Accelerated Filer Accelerated Filer

Non-accelerated Filer Smaller reporting company

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

YFS	NO

The number of common shares, par value \$.001 per share, outstanding as of October 31, 2017 was 285,864,361, excluding 49,672,636 common shares held by our subsidiaries, or 335,536,997 in the aggregate.

Table of Contents

NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Index

PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.	Financial	Statements

	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016	3
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016	4
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016	5
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016	6
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016	7
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	8
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	37
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	47
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	47
PART II	I OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	48
<u>Item</u> 1A.	Risk Factors	48
Item 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	52
Item 3.	<u>Defaults Upon Senior Securities</u>	52
<u>Item 4.</u>	Mine Safety Disclosures	52
Item 5.	Other Information	52
<u>Item 4.</u>	Mine Safety Disclosures	

Item 6. Exhibits	53
<u>Signatures</u>	54
2	

Table of Contents

NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)

ASSETS	September 30, 2017 (In thousands, ex share amounts)	December 31, 2016 scept per
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 190,556	\$ 264,093
Short-term investments	29,770	31,109
Accounts receivable, net	621,640	508,355
Inventory, net	119,050	103,595
Assets held for sale	37,275	76,668
Other current assets	176,630	172,019
Total current assets	1,174,921	1,155,839
Property, plant and equipment, net	6,051,606	6,267,583
Goodwill	173,321	166,917
Deferred tax asset	444,796	366,586
Other long-term assets	243,941	230,090
Total assets	\$ 8,088,585	\$ 8,187,015
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	\$ 0,000, 2 00	Ψ 0,107,010
Current liabilities:		
Current portion of debt	\$ 196	\$ 297
Trade accounts payable	317,314	264,578
Accrued liabilities	485,347	543,248
Income taxes payable	27,817	13,811
Total current liabilities	830,674	821,934
Long-term debt	3,958,615	3,578,335
Other long-term liabilities	351,787	522,456
Deferred income taxes	20,288	9,495
Total liabilities	5,161,364	4,932,220
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)		
Equity:		
Shareholders' equity:		
Common shares, par value \$0.001 per share:		
Authorized common shares 800,000; issued 335,550 and 333,598,		
respectively	336	334
Capital in excess of par value	2,624,711	2,521,332
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	15,657	(12,119)
Retained earnings	1,556,650	2,033,427

Less: treasury shares, at cost, 49,673 and 49,673 common shares, respectively	(1,295,949)	(1,295,949)
Total shareholders' equity	2,901,405	3,247,025
Noncontrolling interest	25,816	7,770
Total equity	2,927,221	3,254,795
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 8,088,585	\$ 8,187,015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)

(Unaudited)

	Three Month September 30		Nine Months September 30	
	2017	2016	2017	2016
	(In thousands, exce	ept per share amo	ounts)	
Revenues and other income:				
Operating revenues	\$ 662,103	\$ 519,729	\$ 1,856,008	\$ 1,688,891
Earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates	4	2	6	(221,918)
Investment income (loss)	373	310	208	923
Total revenues and other income	662,480	520,041	1,856,222	1,467,896
Costs and other deductions:				
Direct costs	441,263	306,436	1,246,428	1,012,738
General and administrative expenses	65,010	56,078	192,114	175,036
Research and engineering	12,960	8,476	36,060	24,818
Depreciation and amortization	217,075	220,713	628,837	655,444
Interest expense	54,607	46,836	165,813	137,803
Other, net	5,559	10,392	29,173	267,403
Total costs and other deductions	796,474	648,931	2,298,425	2,273,242
Income (loss) from continuing operations before	·	040,731	2,270,423	2,273,242
income taxes	(133,994)	(128,890)	(442,203)	(805,346)
Income taxes Income tax expense (benefit):	(133,334)	(126,690)	(442,203)	(805,540)
Current	8,644	8,600	45,646	39,323
Deferred	(23,353)	(39,651)	(105,460)	(163,621)
Total income tax expense (benefit)	(14,709)	(31,051)	(59,814)	(103,021)
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net of		(31,031)	(33,014)	(124,290)
tax	(119,285)	(97,839)	(382,389)	(681,048)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net	(119,203)	(97,839)	(302,309)	(001,040)
of tax	(27,134)	(12,187)	(43,077)	(14,097)
Net income (loss)	(146,419)	(110,026)	(425,466)	(695,145)
Less: Net (income) loss attributable to	(140,419)	(110,020)	(423,400)	(093,143)
noncontrolling interest	(2.112)	(1,185)	(5,001)	990
Net income (loss) attributable to Nabors	(2,113) \$ (148,532)	\$ (111,211)	\$ (430,467)	\$ (694,155)
thet income (loss) attributable to mabors	\$ (140,332)	\$ (111,211)	\$ (430,407)	\$ (094,133)
Amounts attributable to Nabors:				
Net income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ (121,398)	\$ (99,024)	\$ (387,390)	\$ (680,058)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations	(27,134)	(12,187)	(43,077)	(14,097)
Net income (loss) attributable to Nabors	\$ (148,532)	\$ (111,211)	\$ (430,467)	\$ (694,155)
Earnings (losses) per share:				
Basic from continuing operations	\$ (0.42)	\$ (0.35)	\$ (1.35)	\$ (2.41)
Basic from discontinued operations	(0.10)	(0.04)	(0.16)	(0.05)
Total Basic	\$ (0.52)	\$ (0.39)	\$ (1.51)	\$ (2.46)
	•	•		•

Diluted from continuing operations Diluted from discontinued operations	\$ (0.42) (0.10)	\$ (0.35) (0.04)	\$ (1.35) (0.16)	\$ (2.41) (0.05)
Total Diluted	\$ (0.52)	\$ (0.39)	\$ (1.51)	\$ (2.46)
Weighted-average number of common shares				
outstanding:				
Basic	279,313	276,707	278,670	276,369
Diluted	279,313	276,707	278,670	276,369
Dividends declared per common share	\$ 0.06	\$ 0.06	\$ 0.18	\$ 0.18
Dividends declared per common share	\$ U.UU	\$ U.UU	\$ U.18	\$ U.18

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Unaudited)

	Three Months September 30 2017		Nine Months September 30 2017	
	(In thousands)			
Net income (loss) attributable to Nabors	\$ (148,532)	\$ (111,211)	\$ (430,467)	\$ (694,155)
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:				
Translation adjustment attributable to Nabors	16,444	(8,950)	31,183	27,870
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable				
securities:				
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable				
securities	(5,706)	1,502	(5,122)	3,551
Less: reclassification adjustment for (gains)				
losses included in net income (loss)		3,495	1,341	3,495
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable				
securities	(5,706)	4,997	(3,781)	7,046
Pension liability amortization and adjustment	50	297	150	765
Unrealized gains (losses) and amortization on				
cash flow hedges	153	153	459	459
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax	10,941	(3,503)	28,011	36,140
Income tax expense (benefit) related to items of	,	() ,	,	,
other comprehensive income (loss)	78	172	235	472
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	10,863	(3,675)	27,776	35,668
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to		(=,=,=)	_,,,,,	,
Nabors	(137,669)	(114,886)	(402,691)	(658,487)
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling	(,,,	(1,000)	(10=,02)	(000,101)
interest	2,113	1,185	5,001	(990)
Translation adjustment attributable to	2,113	1,100	2,001	(220)
noncontrolling interest	160	(90)	317	371
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to	100	(50)	317	371
noncontrolling interest	2,273	1,095	5,318	(619)
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$ (135,396)	\$ (113,791)	\$ (397,373)	\$ (659,106)
Comprehensive medine (1038)	ψ (133,370)	ψ (113,771)	ψ (3)1,313)	Ψ (057,100)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

	Nine Months E	nded
	September 30,	
	2017	2016
	(In thousands)	
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net income (loss)	\$ (425,466)	\$ (695,145)
Adjustments to net income (loss):		
Depreciation and amortization	630,773	657,541
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)	(114,973)	(168,413)
Impairments and other charges	35,293	45,809
Deferred financing costs amortization	5,300	3,335
Discount amortization on long-term debt	15,129	1,597
Losses (gains) on debt buyback	16,005	(6,707)
Losses (gains) on long-lived assets, net	10,180	13,608
Losses (gains) on investments, net	1,342	_
Impairments on equity method holdings		216,242
Share-based compensation	25,057	24,070
Foreign currency transaction losses (gains), net	1,728	5,916
Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated affiliates, net of dividends	(6)	221,918
Other	(4,596)	2,025
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:		
Accounts receivable	(128,542)	255,455
Inventory	(14,567)	14,660
Other current assets	(6,967)	30,192
Other long-term assets	35,378	(377)
Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities	21,611	(187,771)
Income taxes payable	19,790	(22,496)
Other long-term liabilities	(158,578)	(6,691)
Net cash (used for) provided by operating activities	(36,109)	404,768
Cash flows from investing activities:	(30,10))	101,700
Purchases of investments	(6,722)	(24)
Sales and maturities of investments	12,533	643
Cash paid for acquisition of businesses, net	(50,764)	—
Capital expenditures	(448,864)	(284,950)
Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims	32,805	26,597
Other	(427)	(19)
	(461,439)	
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities	(401,439)	(257,753)
Cash flows from financing activities:		

Increase (decrease) in cash overdrafts	(78)	5
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	411,200	
Debt issuance costs	(11,039)	
Proceeds from revolving credit facilities	410,000	560,000
Reduction in revolving credit facilities	_	(260,000)
Proceeds from (payments for) issuance of common shares	8,300	562
Repurchase of common shares	_	(1,687)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest	(7,272)	_
Noncontrolling interest contribution	20,000	
Reduction in long-term debt	(382,815)	(492,625)
Dividends to shareholders	(51,346)	(33,927)
Proceeds from (payment for) commercial paper, net	78,000	15,000
Cash proceeds from equity component of exchangeable debt	159,952	
Payments on term loan	(162,500)	_
Proceeds from (payments for) short-term borrowings	(528)	(6,388)
Purchase of capped call hedge transactions	(40,250)	_
Other	(7,864)	(4,313)
Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities	423,760	(223,373)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	251	(1,129)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(73,537)	(77,487)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	264,093	254,530
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 190,556	\$ 177,043

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Unaudited)

	Common	Shares Par	Capital in Excess of Par	Accumulated Other Comprehensi		Treasury	Non-controlling	Total
n thousands)	Shares	Value	Value	Income	Earnings	Shares	Interest	Equity
s of								
ecember 31, 015	330,526	331	2,493,100	(47,593)	3,131,134	(1,294,262)	11,158	4,293,868
et income								
oss) ividends to areholders 0.18 per	_	_	_	_	(694,155)	_	(990)	(695,145)
iare) epurchase of		_	_	_	(50,926)	_	_	(50,926)
easury shares ther omprehensive	_	_	_	_	_	(1,687)	_	(1,687)
come (loss), et of tax suance of ommon shares or stock otions cercised, net surrender of nexercised	_	_	_	35,668	_	_	371	36,039
ock options nare-based	57	_	562	_	_	_	_	562
mpensation		_	24,070					24,070
ther s of eptember 30,	2,424	2	(4,315)	_	_	_	(3,774)	(8,087)
016	333,007	\$ 333	\$ 2,513,417	\$ (11,925)	\$ 2,386,053	\$ (1,295,949)	\$ 6,765	\$ 3,598,694
s of ecember 31,								
016 et income	333,598	\$ 334	\$ 2,521,332	\$ (12,119)	\$ 2,033,427	\$ (1,295,949)	\$ 7,770	\$ 3,254,795
oss)	_	_	<u> </u>	_ _	(430,467) (51,460)	_ _	5,001 —	(425,466) (51,460)

iareholders 0.18 per iare)								
ther omprehensive come (loss), et of tax suance of ommon shares or stock	_	_	_	27,776	_	_	317	28,093
otions tercised, net surrender of nexercised								
ock options nare-based	843	1	8,299	_	_	_	_	8,300
ompensation quity omponent of schangeable	_	_	25,057	_	_	_	_	25,057
ebt apped call	_	_	116,195	_	_	_		116,195
ansactions doption of SU No.	_	_	(40,250)	_	_	_	_	(40,250)
016-09 oncontrolling terest ontributions	_	_	1,943	_	5,150	_	_	7,093
listributions) ther s of eptember 30,	1,109	1					12,728	12,728 (7,864)
017	335,550	\$ 336	\$ 2,624,711	\$ 15,657	\$ 1,556,650	\$ (1,295,949)	\$ 25,816	\$ 2,927,221

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

7

ividends to

Table of Contents
Nabors Industries Ltd. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 Nature of Operations
Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to "we," "us," "our," "the Company," or "Nabors" mean Nabors Industries Ltd., together with our subsidiaries where the context requires.
We own and operate the world's largest land-based drilling rig fleet and are a leading provider of offshore platform drilling rigs in the United States and multiple international markets. We also provide advanced wellbore placement services, drilling software and performance tools, drilling equipment and innovative technologies throughout the world's most significant oil and gas markets.
As a global provider of drilling and drilling-related services for land-based and offshore oil and natural gas wells, our fleet of rigs and drilling-related equipment as of September 30, 2017 included:
· 405 actively marketed rigs for land-based drilling operations in the United States, Canada and approximately 20 other countries throughout the world; and
· 40 actively marketed rigs for offshore drilling operations in the United States and multiple international markets.
Our business consists of four reportable operating segments: U.S., Canada, International and Rig Services.
Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Interim Financial Information

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Nabors have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP"). Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been omitted. Therefore, these financial statements should be read together with our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 ("2016 Annual Report"). In management's opinion, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments necessary to state fairly our financial position as of September 30, 2017 and the results of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows and changes in equity for the periods presented herein. Interim results for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 may not be indicative of results that will be realized for the full year ending December 31, 2017.

Principles of Consolidation

Our condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Nabors, as well as all majority owned and non-majority owned subsidiaries required to be consolidated under GAAP. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

During 2016, we entered into an agreement with Saudi Arabian Development Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Saudi Arabian Oil Company ("Saudi Aramco"), to form a new joint venture, Saudi Aramco Nabors Drilling ("SANAD"), to own, manage and operate onshore drilling rigs in The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. SANAD, which is equally owned by Saudi Aramco and Nabors, is expected to commence operations during the fourth quarter of 2017. In May 2017, Nabors and Saudi Aramco each contributed \$20 million in cash for formation of the joint venture. We have consolidated this joint venture which, as of September 30, 2017, is limited to the \$40 million of cash mentioned above to be used exclusively by the joint venture to fund future operations.

Investments in operating entities where we have the ability to exert significant influence, but where we do not control operating and financial policies, are accounted for using the equity method. Our share of the net income (loss) of these entities is recorded as earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates in our condensed consolidated statements of

Table of Contents

income (loss). The investments in these entities are included in investment in other long-term assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets. We historically recorded our share of the net income (loss) of our equity method investment in C&J Energy Services, Ltd. ("CJES") on a one-quarter lag, as we were not able to obtain the financial information of CJES on a timely basis. During the third quarter of 2016, CJES filed for bankruptcy, at which time we ceased accounting for our investment in CJES as an equity method investment. See Note 4 — Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues and costs on daywork contracts daily as the work progresses. For certain contracts, we receive lump-sum payments for the mobilization of rigs and other drilling equipment. We defer revenue related to mobilization periods and recognize the revenue over the term of the related drilling contract. We also defer recognition of revenue on amounts received from customers for prepayment of services until those services are provided. At September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, our deferred revenues classified as accrued liabilities were \$241.8 million and \$255.6 million, respectively. At September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, our deferred revenues classified as other long-term liabilities were \$167.8 million and \$321.0 million, respectively.

Costs incurred related to a mobilization period for which a contract is secured are deferred and recognized over the term of the related drilling contract. Costs incurred to relocate rigs and other drilling equipment to areas in which a contract has not been secured are expensed as incurred. At September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, our deferred expenses classified as other current assets were \$66.6 million and \$63.4 million, respectively. At September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, our deferred expenses classified as other long-term assets were \$41.7 million and \$69.5 million, respectively.

We recognize revenue for top drives and instrumentation systems we manufacture when the earnings process is complete. This generally occurs when products have been shipped, title and risk of loss have been transferred, collectability is probable, and pricing is fixed and determinable.

We recognize, as operating revenue, proceeds from business interruption insurance claims in the period that the applicable proof of loss documentation is received. Proceeds from casualty insurance settlements in excess of the carrying value of damaged assets are recognized in other, net in the period that the applicable proof of loss documentation is received. Proceeds from casualty insurance settlements that are expected to be less than the carrying value of damaged assets are recognized at the time the loss is incurred and recorded in other, net.

We recognize reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred as revenues and account for out-of-pocket expenses as direct costs.

Inventory, net

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out or weighted-average cost methods and includes the cost of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. Inventory included the following:

	September 30,	December 31,
	2017	2016
	(In thousands)	
Raw materials	\$ 89,127	\$ 84,431
Work-in-progress	15,630	1,204
Finished goods	14,293	17,960
_	\$ 119,050	\$ 103,595

Table of Contents

Property, Plant and Equipment

We review our assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If the estimated undiscounted future cash flows are not sufficient to support the asset's recorded value, an impairment charge is recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the long-lived asset exceeds its estimated fair value. Management considers a number of factors such as estimated future cash flows from the assets, appraisals and current market value analysis in determining fair value. The determination of future cash flows requires the estimation of utilization, dayrates, operating margins, sustaining capital and remaining economic life. Such estimates can change based on market conditions, technological advances in the industry or changes in regulations governing the industry.

For an asset classified as held for sale, we consider the asset impaired when its carrying amount exceeds fair value less its cost to sell. Fair value is determined in the same manner as an impaired long-lived asset that is held and used.

Significant and unanticipated changes to the assumptions could result in future impairments. A significantly prolonged period of lower oil and natural gas prices could adversely affect the demand for and prices of our services. As such, we will continue to assess our asset fleet for triggering events, particularly our legacy and undersized rigs. Should we experience weakening in the market for a prolonged period for any specific rig class, this could result in future impairment charges or retirements of assets. As the determination of whether impairment charges should be recorded on our long-lived assets is subject to significant management judgment, and an impairment of these assets could result in a material charge on our condensed consolidated statements of income (loss), management believes that accounting estimates related to impairment of long-lived assets are critical.

Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment annually during the second quarter of each fiscal year or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such goodwill and intangible assets exceed their fair value. Due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2017-04, effective January 1, 2017, we no longer determine goodwill impairment by calculating the implied fair value of goodwill by assigning the fair value of a reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if that reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. We will continue to perform our qualitative analysis as well as step one of the impairment test which compares the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, an impairment charge will be recognized in an amount equal to the excess; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

For our goodwill tests prior to adoption of the new standard, we initially assessed goodwill for impairment based on qualitative factors to determine whether to perform the two-step annual goodwill impairment test, a Level 3 fair value

measurement. After our qualitative assessment, step one of the impairment test compared the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeded the fair value, a second step was required to measure the goodwill impairment loss. The second step compared the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeded the implied fair value, an impairment loss was recognized in an amount equal to the excess.

Our estimated fair values of our reporting units incorporate judgment and the use of estimates by management. Potential triggering events requiring assessment include a further or sustained decline in our stock price, declines in oil and natural gas prices, a variance in results of operations from forecasts, a change in operating strategy of assets and additional transactions in the oil and gas industry. Another factor in determining whether a triggering event has occurred is the relationship between our market capitalization and our book value. As part of our annual review, we compare the sum of our reporting units' estimated fair value, which includes the estimated fair value of non-operating assets and liabilities, less debt, to our market capitalization and assess the reasonableness of our estimated fair value. Any of the above-mentioned factors may cause us to re-evaluate goodwill during any quarter throughout the year.

Based on our annual review during the second quarter of 2017, we did not record a goodwill impair	ment.
---	-------

Table of Contents

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2016-07, Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures, to simplify the transition to the equity method of accounting. This standard eliminates the requirement to retroactively adopt the equity method of accounting as a result of an increase in the level of ownership interest or degree of influence. Instead, the equity method investor should add the cost of acquiring the additional interest in the investee to the current basis of the investor's previously held interest and adopt the equity method of accounting as of the date the investment qualifies for the equity method of accounting. This guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation, to simplify the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities and classification on the statement of cash flows. This guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016. We adopted this guidance on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2017. The impact of adoption was a decrease in deferred tax liabilities of \$7.1 million and an increase in retained earnings of \$7.1 million related to excess tax benefits on prior awards. Additionally, we elected to account for forfeitures as they occur. The impact of this election resulted in an increase in capital in excess of par and a corresponding decrease in retained earnings of \$1.9 million.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, which simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. In computing the implied fair value of goodwill under Step 2, an entity had to perform procedures to determine the fair value at the impairment testing date of its assets and liabilities (including unrecognized assets and liabilities) following the procedure that would be required in determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Under this new standard, an entity should perform its goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount and then recognize an impairment charge, as necessary, for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. We have elected to early adopt this guidance on a prospective basis for our annual goodwill impairment test performed subsequent to January 1, 2017. The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, relating to the revenue recognition from contracts with customers that creates a common revenue standard for GAAP and IFRS. The core principle will require recognition of revenue to represent the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration, including costs incurred, to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will also require significantly expanded disclosures containing qualitative

and quantitative information regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. In July 2015, the FASB approved a one year deferral of this standard, with a new effective date for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Throughout 2017 we have taken many steps towards quantifying the impact of the new standard on our contracts. We, along with our third party consultants, have identified and reviewed our revenue streams, identified a subset of contracts to represent these revenue streams and performed a detailed analysis of such contracts. As part of this analysis, we identified specific areas impacted under the new standard. We have finalized our bucketing of contracts and expanded our sample of contracts for review in order to evaluate, document and quantify the consolidated impact of adopting the standard. We expect to apply the modified retrospective approach during the first quarter of 2018. However, we continue to evaluate the impact of the standard on our accounting policies, internal controls and consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments—Overall, relating to the recognition and measurement of financial assets and liabilities. This standard enhances the reporting model for financial instruments, which includes amendments to address aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure. This guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early application is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact this will have on our consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, relating to leases to increase transparency and comparability among companies. This standard requires that all leases with an initial term greater than one year be recorded on the balance sheet as an asset and a lease liability. Additionally, this standard will require disclosures designed to give financial statement users information on the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. This guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. Early application is permitted. This standard requires an entity to separate lease components from nonlease components within a contract. While the lease components would be accounted for under ASU No. 2016-02, nonlease components would be accounted for under ASU No. 2014-09. We have determined that under the new standard, our drilling contracts contain a lease component and therefore we will be required to separately recognize revenues associated with the lease and services components. Therefore, we are evaluating ASU No. 2016-02 concurrently with the provisions of ASU No. 2014-09 and the impact this will have on our consolidated financial statements. We expect to adopt this guidance as of the effective date.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows, to reduce the diversity in practice in how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. This guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early application is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact this will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes, which improves the accounting for the income tax consequences of intra-entity transfers of assets other than inventory. This guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early application is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact this will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash, to provide guidance on the classification of restricted cash in the statement of cash flows. This guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early application is permitted. The amendments in the ASU should be adopted on a retrospective basis. We are currently evaluating the impact this will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Clarifying the Definition of a Business, which clarifies the definition of a business and provides further guidance for evaluating whether a transaction will be accounted for as an acquisition of an asset or a business. The standard provides a test to determine whether a set of assets and activities acquired is a business. When substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets, the set is not a business. Under the updated guidance, an acquisition of a single property will likely be treated as an asset acquisition as opposed to a business combination and associated transaction costs will be capitalized rather than expensed as incurred. Additionally, assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest will be measured at their relative fair values. We do not expect the adoption of this standard to have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation, to reduce diversity in practice and provide clarity regarding existing guidance in ASC 718, "Stock Compensation". The standard provides guidance on the types of changes to the terms or conditions of share-based payment awards to which an entity would be required to apply modification accounting under ASC 718. Specifically, an entity would not apply modification accounting if the fair value, vesting conditions and classification of the awards are the same immediately before and after the modification. This guidance is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early application is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact that this will have on our consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

Note 3 Acquisitions

On September 5, 2017 we paid an initial amount of approximately \$50.9 million in cash, subject to customary closing adjustments, to acquire Stavanger, Norway based Robotic Drilling Systems AS ("RDS"), a provider of automated tubular and tool handling equipment for the onshore and offshore drilling markets. This transaction will allow us to integrate RDS's highly capable team and product offering with the technology portfolio of Canrig Drilling Technology ("Canrig"), Nabors rig equipment division, and strengthens the development of Canrig's drilling automation solutions. As part of our purchase price allocation, we have initially recorded intangible assets of \$53.3 million (developed technology and in process research and development), goodwill of approximately \$5.7 million and other liabilities of \$7.3 million (net of other working capital items). The proforma effect on revenue and net income (loss) have been determined to be immaterial to our financial statements.

On August 13, 2017, Nabors signed an Arrangement Agreement to acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Tesco Corporation ("Tesco"), with each outstanding common share of Tesco being exchanged for 0.68 common shares of Nabors. This transaction (the "Arrangement") will create a leading rig equipment and drilling automation provider by combining Canrig, with Tesco's rig equipment manufacturing, rental and aftermarket service business. Additionally, Tesco operates a tubular services business in numerous key regions globally, which will immediately benefit Nabors Drilling Solutions' ("NDS") operation. Nabors estimates that it will issue approximately 32 million of its common shares in connection with this transaction. The consummation of the Arrangement is subject to approval by Tesco security holders, receipt of required regulatory approvals, approval by the Court of Queens Bench of Alberta, and satisfaction or waiver of other customary closing conditions. It is currently anticipated that the closing of the Arrangement will occur in the fourth quarter of 2017.

Note 4 Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

On March 24, 2015, we completed the merger of our Completion & Production Services business with C&J Energy Services, Inc.. We received total consideration comprised of approximately \$693.5 million in cash (\$650.0 million after settlement of working capital requirements) and approximately 62.5 million common shares in the combined company, CJES, representing approximately 53% of the outstanding and issued common shares of CJES as of the closing date. We recognized our share of the net income (loss) of CJES, which was a loss of \$221.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, and is reflected in earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates in our condensed consolidated statement of income (loss). Additionally, we recognized an other-than-temporary impairment charge of \$192.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, which is reflected in other, net in our condensed consolidated statement of income (loss). During the third quarter of 2016, CJES commenced voluntarily cases under chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy code. As such, we ceased accounting for our investment in CJES as an equity method investment. In January 2017, CJES emerged from bankruptcy and as part of the settlement we received warrants to acquire the common equity in the reorganized CJES.

Note 5 Fair Value Measurements

Our financial assets and liabilities that are accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2017 consist of available-for-sale equity and debt securities. Our debt securities could transfer into or out of a Level 1 or 2 measure depending on the availability of independent and current pricing at the end of each quarter. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, there were no transfers of our financial assets between Level 1 and Level 2 measures. Our financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The majority of our short-term investments are categorized as Level 1 and had a fair value of \$23.6 million as of September 30, 2017. Additionally, we report our investment in the CJES warrants at fair value based on quoted market prices or prices quoted from third-party financial institutions. This measure is categorized as Level 2 and had a fair value of \$6.2 million as of September 30, 2017.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

We applied fair value measurements to our nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured on a nonrecurring basis, which consist of measurements primarily to assets held for sale, goodwill, equity method investments, intangible assets and other long-lived assets, assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination and our pipeline contractual commitment. Based upon our review of the fair value hierarchy, the inputs used in these fair value measurements were considered Level 3 inputs.

Table of Contents

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We estimate the fair value of our financial instruments in accordance with GAAP. The fair value of our long-term debt, revolving credit facility and commercial paper is estimated based on quoted market prices or prices quoted from third-party financial institutions. The fair value of our debt instruments is determined using Level 2 measurements. The carrying and fair values of these liabilities were as follows:

	September 30, 2017		December 31, 2016	
	Carrying	Fair	Carrying	Fair
	Value	Value	Value	Value
	(In thousands)		(In thousands)	
6.15% senior notes due February 2018	\$ 460,537	\$ 467,620	\$ 827,539	\$ 865,300
9.25% senior notes due January 2019	303,489	327,902	303,489	337,443
5.00% senior notes due September 2020	669,769	685,622	669,540	689,211
4.625% senior notes due September 2021	695,048	686,096	694,868	708,765
5.50% senior notes due January 2023	600,000	598,242	600,000	627,000
5.10% senior notes due September 2023	346,544	333,680	346,448	348,613
0.75% senior exchangeable notes due January				
2024	425,010	469,258	_	
Term loan facility	_	_	162,500	162,500
Revolving credit facility	410,000	410,000		
Commercial paper	78,000	78,000	_	
Other	196	196	297	297
	3,988,593	\$ 4,056,616	3,604,681	\$ 3,739,129
Less: deferred financing costs	29,782		26,049	
	\$ 3,958,811		\$ 3,578,632	

The fair values of our cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables approximate their carrying values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Note 6 Debt

Debt consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31, 2017 2016

	(In thousands)	
6.15% senior notes due February 2018 (1)	\$ 460,537	\$ 827,539
9.25% senior notes due January 2019	303,489	303,489
5.00% senior notes due September 2020	669,769	669,540
4.625% senior notes due September 2021	695,048	694,868
5.50% senior notes due January 2023	600,000	600,000
5.10% senior notes due September 2023	346,544	346,448
0.75% senior exchangeable notes due January 2024	425,010	
Term loan facility		162,500
Revolving credit facility	410,000	
Commercial paper	78,000	
Other	196	297
	3,988,593	3,604,681
Less: current portion	196	297
Less: deferred financing costs	29,782	26,049
	\$ 3,958,615	\$ 3,578,335

⁽¹⁾ The 6.15% senior notes due February 2018 have been classified as long-term because we have the ability and intent to repay this obligation utilizing our revolving credit facility.

Table of Contents

During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, we repurchased or redeemed \$367.9 million aggregate principal amount of our 6.15% senior notes due February 2018 for approximately \$387.3 million in cash, reflecting principal and approximately \$5.6 million of accrued and unpaid interest. The difference represents the premiums paid in connection with these repurchases or redemptions and is included in other, net in our condensed consolidated statement of income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2017.

0.75% Senior Exchangeable Notes Due January 2024

In January 2017, Nabors Industries, Inc. ("Nabors Delaware"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Nabors, issued \$575 million in aggregate principal amount of 0.75% exchangeable senior unsecured notes due 2024, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Nabors. The notes bear interest at a rate of 0.75% per year payable semiannually on January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning on July 15, 2017. The exchangeable notes are bifurcated for accounting purposes into debt and equity components of \$411.2 million and \$163.8 million, respectively, based on the relative fair value. Debt issuance costs of \$9.6 million and equity issuance costs of \$3.9 million were capitalized in connection with the issuance of these notes in long-term debt and netted against the proceeds allocated to the equity component, respectively, in our condensed consolidated balance sheet. The debt issuance costs are being amortized through January 2024.

The exchangeable notes are exchangeable, under certain conditions, at an initial exchange rate of 39.75 common shares of Nabors per \$1,000 principal amount of exchangeable notes (equivalent to an initial exchange price of approximately \$25.16 per common share). Upon any exchange, Nabors Delaware will settle its exchange obligation in cash, common shares of Nabors, or a combination of cash and common shares, at our election.

In connection with the pricing of the notes, we entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions which are expected to reduce potential dilution to common shares and/or offset potential cash payments required to be made in excess of the principal amount upon any exchange of notes. Such reduction and/or offset is subject to a cap representing a price per share of \$31.45, an approximately 75.0% premium over our share price of \$17.97 as of the date of the transaction. The capped call meets the definition of a derivative under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, as it has an underlying (the Company's share price), a notional amount (the number of underlying shares to be purchased per option), an initial net investment less (by more than a nominal amount) than the amount that would have to be paid to own the underlying and provides for a default net share settlement (but could also be settled in cash at the election of the Company). However, the capped call meets the derivative scope exception under ASC 815 for instruments indexed to the Company's own stock and classified in shareholders' equity and therefore was initially recorded in equity. Until such time as the Company elects a settlement method for the exchangeable notes, the capped call transaction will continue to be accounted for as equity. At conversion, if the Company elects to partially settle the notes in cash in excess of the principal amount, or fully in cash, the capped call will be subject to mark to market through earnings as a derivative until such settlement is paid.

The net proceeds from the offering of the exchangeable notes were used to prepay the remaining balance of our unsecured term loan originally scheduled to mature in 2020, as well as to pay the cost of the capped call transactions. The remaining net proceeds from the offering were allocated for general corporate purposes, including to repurchase or repay other indebtedness.

Commercial Paper Program

As of September 30, 2017, we had approximately \$78.0 million of commercial paper outstanding. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings at September 30, 2017 was 1.83%. Our commercial paper borrowings are classified as long-term debt because the borrowings are fully supported by availability under our revolving credit facility, which matures as currently structured in July 2020, more than one year from now.

Revolving Credit Facility

As of September 30, 2017, we had \$410.0 million outstanding under our \$2.25 billion revolving credit facility, which matures in July 2020. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings at September 30, 2017 was 2.59%. The revolving credit facility contains various covenants and restrictive provisions that limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness, make investments or loans and create liens and require us to maintain a net funded indebtedness to total capitalization ratio, as defined in the agreement. Availability under the revolving credit facility is subject to a covenant

Table of Contents

not to exceed a net debt to capital ratio of 0.60:1. We were in compliance with all covenants under the agreement at September 30, 2017. If we fail to perform our obligations under the covenants, the revolving credit commitment could be terminated, and any outstanding borrowings under the facility could be declared immediately due and payable.

Term Loan Facility

On September 29, 2015, Nabors Delaware entered into a new five-year unsecured term loan facility for \$325.0 million, which was fully and unconditionally guaranteed by us. The term loan facility contained a mandatory prepayment of \$162.5 million due in September 2018, which was repaid in December 2016 utilizing a portion of the proceeds received in connection with the 5.50% senior notes offering. In January 2017, we repaid the remaining \$162.5 million term loan utilizing the proceeds received in connection with the 0.75% senior exchangeable notes and the facility was terminated.

Note 7 Common Shares

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we repurchased 0.3 million of our common shares in the open market for \$1.7 million, all of which are held in treasury.

On July 28, 2017, a cash dividend of \$0.06 per share was declared for shareholders of record on September 12, 2017. The dividend was paid on October 3, 2017 in the amount of \$17.2 million and was charged to retained earnings in our condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2017.

Note 8 Commitments and Contingencies

Contingencies

Income Tax

We operate in a number of countries throughout the world and our tax returns filed in those jurisdictions are subject to review and examination by tax authorities within those jurisdictions. We do not recognize the benefit of income tax positions we believe are more likely than not to be disallowed upon challenge by a tax authority. If any tax authority

successfully challenges our operational structure, intercompany pricing policies or the taxable presence of our subsidiaries in certain countries, if the terms of certain income tax treaties are interpreted in a manner that is adverse to our structure, or if we lose a material tax dispute in any country, our effective tax rate on our worldwide earnings could change substantially.

We have received an assessment from a tax authority in Latin America in connection with a 2007 income tax return. The assessment relates to the denial of depreciation expense deductions related to drilling rigs. Similar deductions were taken for tax year 2009. Although Nabors and its tax advisors believe these deductions are appropriate and intend to continue to defend our position, the contingency has been partially reserved. If we ultimately do not prevail, we estimate that we would be required to recognize additional tax expense for the entire contingency in the range of \$3 million to \$8 million.

Self-Insurance

We estimate the level of our liability related to insurance and record reserves for these amounts in our condensed consolidated financial statements. Our estimates are based on the facts and circumstances specific to existing claims and our past experience with similar claims. These loss estimates and accruals recorded in our financial statements for claims have historically been reasonable in light of the actual amount of claims paid and are actuarially supported. Although we believe our insurance coverage and reserve estimates are reasonable, a significant accident or other event that is not fully covered by insurance or contractual indemnity could occur and could materially affect our financial position and results of operations for a particular period.

We self-insure for certain losses relating to workers' compensation, employers' liability, general liability, automobile liability and property damage. Some of our workers' compensation, employers' liability and marine employers' liability claims are subject to a \$3.0 million per-occurrence deductible; additionally, some of our automobile

Table of Contents

liability claims are subject to a \$2.5 million deductible. General liability claims remain subject to a \$5.0 million per-occurrence deductible. Our policies were renewed effective April 1, 2017 and remain subject to these same deductibles.

In addition, we are subject to a \$5.0 million deductible for land rigs and for offshore rigs. This applies to all kinds of risks of physical damage except for named windstorms in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico for which we are self-insured.

Litigation

Nabors and its subsidiaries are defendants or otherwise involved in a number of lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. We estimate the range of our liability related to pending litigation when we believe the amount and range of loss can be estimated. We record our best estimate of a loss when the loss is considered probable. When a liability is probable and there is a range of estimated loss with no best estimate in the range, we record the minimum estimated liability related to the lawsuits or claims. As additional information becomes available, we assess the potential liability related to our pending litigation and claims and revise our estimates. Due to uncertainties related to the resolution of lawsuits and claims, the ultimate outcome may differ from our estimates. For matters where an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible and significant, we disclose the nature of the matter and a range of potential exposure, unless an estimate cannot be made at the time of disclosure. In the opinion of management and based on liability accruals provided, our ultimate exposure with respect to these pending lawsuits and claims is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or cash flows, although they could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations for a particular reporting period.

In March 2011, the Court of Ouargla entered a judgment of approximately \$25.0 million (at September 30, 2017 exchange rates) against us relating to alleged violations of Algeria's foreign currency exchange controls, which require that goods and services provided locally be invoiced and paid in local currency. The case relates to certain foreign currency payments made to us by CEPSA, a Spanish operator, for wells drilled in 2006. Approximately \$7.5 million of the total contract amount was paid offshore in foreign currency, and approximately \$3.2 million was paid in local currency. The judgment includes fines and penalties of approximately four times the amount at issue. We have appealed the ruling based on our understanding that the law in question applies only to resident entities incorporated under Algerian law. An intermediate court of appeals upheld the lower court's ruling, and we appealed the matter to the Supreme Court. On September 25, 2014, the Supreme Court overturned the verdict against us, and the case was reheard by the Ouargla Court of Appeals on March 22, 2015 in light of the Supreme Court's opinion. On March 29, 2015, the Ouargla Court of Appeals reinstated the initial judgment against us. We have appealed this decision again to the Supreme Court. While our payments were consistent with our historical operations in the country, and, we believe, those of other multinational corporations there, as well as interpretations of the law by the Central Bank of Algeria, the ultimate resolution of this matter could result in a loss of up to \$17.0 million in excess of amounts accrued.

In March 2012, Nabors Global Holdings II Limited ("NGH2L") signed an agreement with ERG Resources, LLC ("ERG") relating to the sale of all of the Class A shares of NGH2L's wholly owned subsidiary, Ramshorn International Limited,

an oil and gas exploration company ("Ramshorn") ("the ERG Agreement"). When ERG failed to meet its closing obligations, NGH2L terminated the transaction on March 19, 2012 and, as contemplated in the agreement, retained ERG's \$3.0 million escrow deposit. ERG filed suit the following day in the 61st Judicial District Court of Harris County, Texas, in a case styled ERG Resources, LLC v. Nabors Global Holdings II Limited, Ramshorn International Limited, and Parex Resources, Inc.; Cause No. 2012 16446, seeking injunctive relief to halt any sale of the shares to a third party, specifically naming as defendant Parex Resources, Inc. ("Parex"). The lawsuit also sought monetary damages of up to \$750.0 million based on an alleged breach of contract by NGH2L and alleged tortious interference with contractual relations by Parex. We successfully defeated ERG's effort to obtain a temporary restraining order from the Texas court on March 20, 2012 and completed the sale of Ramshorn's Class A shares to a Parex affiliate in April 2012, which mooted ERG's application for a temporary injunction. The defendants made numerous jurisdictional challenges on appeal, and on April 30, 2015, ERG filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Accordingly, the civil actions are currently subject to the bankruptcy stay and ERG's claims in the lawsuit are assets of the estate. The lawsuit was stayed, pending further court actions, including appeals of the jurisdictional decisions. On June 17, 2016, the Texas Supreme Court issued its opinion on the jurisdictional appeal holding that jurisdiction exists in Texas for Ramshorn, but not for Parex Bermuda or Parex Canada. ERG retains its causes of action for monetary damages, but we believe the claims are foreclosed by the terms of the ERG Agreement and are without factual or legal merit. On December 28, 2016, the District Court granted Nabors' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to Enforce Exclusive Remedies Clause, holding that ERG's potential recovery in the action may not exceed \$4.5 million in accordance with the terms of the ERG Agreement. The plaintiffs challenged this ruling and Parex was poised to enter

Table of Contents

into a settlement agreement, over the objection of Nabors, whereby ERG would release Parex from all claims in exchange for a \$15 million cash payment from Parex. The Parex settlement changed the dynamics of the ongoing litigation between Nabors and ERG, with all signs indicating that the bankrupt ERG intended to use the cash influx from Parex to pursue a low risk but potentially high reward strategy by continuing with its claim against Nabors. With this development Nabors re evaluated its options, noting that however remote, a negative outcome at trial had the potential for a significantly adverse financial impact. As a result, in order to mitigate expenses associated with what was proving to be lengthy and potentially costly litigation, Nabors has agreed to a settlement in which ERG will release NGH2L from all claims in exchange for a payment of \$20 million by NGH2L. This settlement resulted in a pre-tax charge of \$16.5 million, which is included in net income (loss) from discontinued operations within our condensed consolidated statement of income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017. This settlement, which did not include an admission of wrongdoing by NGH2L, has been funded and the matter is closed.

On September 29, 2017, Nabors and Nabors Maple Acquisition Ltd. were sued, along with Tesco Corporation and its Board of Directors, in a putative shareholder class action filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas, Houston Division. The plaintiff alleges that the September 18, 2017 Preliminary Proxy Statement filed by Tesco with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission omitted material information with respect to the proposed transaction between Tesco and Nabors announced on August 14, 2017. The plaintiff claims that the omissions rendered the Proxy Statement false and misleading, constituting a violation of Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and alleges liability by Nabors as a control person of Tesco. Defendants are moving to consolidate this case, captioned The Vladimir Gusinsky Rev. Trust et al. v. Tesco Corporation et al., No. 4:17-cv-02918 (S.D. Tex.) (Miller, J.) with another matter recently filed against Tesco making the same or similar legal claims against Tesco, captioned Panella v. Tesco Corporation et al., No. 4:17-cv-02904 (S.D. Tex.) (Bennett, J.).

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements (Including Guarantees)

We are a party to some transactions, agreements or other contractual arrangements defined as "off-balance sheet arrangements" that could have a material future effect on our financial position, results of operations, liquidity and capital resources. The most significant of these off-balance sheet arrangements involve agreements and obligations under which we provide financial or performance assurance to third parties. Certain of these agreements serve as guarantees, including standby letters of credit issued on behalf of insurance carriers in conjunction with our workers' compensation insurance program and other financial surety instruments such as bonds. In addition, we have provided indemnifications, which serve as guarantees, to some third parties. These guarantees include indemnification provided by Nabors to our share transfer agent and our insurance carriers. We are not able to estimate the potential future maximum payments that might be due under our indemnification guarantees.

Management believes the likelihood that we would be required to perform or otherwise incur any material losses associated with any of these guarantees is remote. The following table summarizes the total maximum amount of financial guarantees issued by Nabors:

	Maximum Amount					
	2017	2018	2019	Thereafter	Total	
	(In thousands)					
Financial standby letters of credit and other						
financial surety instruments	\$ 98,050	165,311	_		\$ 263,361	

Note 9 Earnings (Losses) Per Share

ASC 260, Earnings per Share, requires companies to treat unvested share-based payment awards that have nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents as a separate class of securities in calculating earnings (losses) per share. We have granted and expect to continue to grant to employees restricted stock grants that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends. Such grants are considered participating securities under ASC 260. As such, we are required to include these grants in the calculation of our basic earnings (losses) per share and calculate basic earnings (losses) per share using the two-class method. The two-class method of computing earnings per share is an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of common stock and participating security according to dividends declared and participation rights in undistributed earnings.

Table of Contents

Basic earnings (losses) per share is computed utilizing the two-class method and is calculated based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the periods presented.

Diluted earnings (losses) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding during the periods utilizing the two-class method for stock options and unvested restricted stock. Shares issuable upon exchange of the \$575 million 0.75% exchangeable notes are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings (losses) per share unless the exchange value of the notes exceeds their principal amount at the end of the relevant reporting period, in which case the notes will be accounted for as if the number of common shares that would be necessary to settle the excess are issued. Such shares are only included in the calculation of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding in our diluted earnings (losses) per share calculation, when the price of our shares exceeds \$25.16 on the last trading day of the quarter, which did not occur during the nine months ended September 30, 2017.

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings (losses) per share computations is as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
2017	2016	2017	2016
In thousands, except	pt per share amo	ounts)	
\$ (119,285)	\$ (97,839)	\$ (382,389)	\$ (681,048)
(2,113)	(1,185)	(5,001)	990
3,463	2,698	10,580	14,683
\$ (117,935)	\$ (96,326)	\$ (376,810)	\$ (665,375)
\$ (27,134)	\$ (12,187)	\$ (43,077)	\$ (14,097)
279,313	276,707	278,670	276,369
\$ (0.42)	\$ (0.35)	\$ (1.35)	\$ (2.41)
(0.10)	(0.04)	(0.16)	(0.05)
\$ (0.52)	\$ (0.39)	\$ (1.51)	\$ (2.46)
\$ (117,935)	\$ (96,326)	\$ (376,810)	\$ (665,375)
		_	
	September 30, 2017 (In thousands, exception of the september 30, 2017 (In thousands, exception of the september 30, 2017 (In thousands, exception of the september 30, 2017 (2,113) (2,113) (3,463) (117,935) (27,134) (279,313) (0.42) (0.10) (0.52)	September 30, 2017 2016 In thousands, except per share amo \$ (119,285) \$ (97,839) (2,113) (1,185) 3,463 2,698 \$ (117,935) \$ (96,326) \$ (27,134) \$ (12,187) 279,313 276,707 \$ (0.42) \$ (0.35) (0.04) \$ (0.52) \$ (0.39)	September 30, 2017 September 30, 2017 In thousands, except per share amounts) \$ (119,285) \$ (97,839) \$ (382,389) (2,113) (1,185) (5,001) 3,463 2,698 10,580 \$ (117,935) \$ (96,326) \$ (376,810) \$ (27,134) \$ (12,187) \$ (43,077) 279,313 276,707 278,670 \$ (0.42) \$ (0.35) \$ (1.35) (0.10) (0.04) (0.16) \$ (0.52) \$ (0.39) \$ (1.51)

Adjusted income (loss) from continuing				
operations, net of tax - diluted	\$ (117,935)	\$ (96,326)	\$ (376,810)	\$ (665,375)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net				
of tax	\$ (27,134)	\$ (12,187)	\$ (43,077)	\$ (14,097)
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding				
- basic	279,313	276,707	278,670	276,369
Add: dilutive effect of potential common shares	_	_		_
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding				
- diluted	279,313	276,707	278,670	276,369
Earnings (losses) per share:				
Diluted from continuing operations	\$ (0.42)	\$ (0.35)	\$ (1.35)	\$ (2.41)
Diluted from discontinued operations	(0.10)	(0.04)	(0.16)	(0.05)
Total Diluted	\$ (0.52)	\$ (0.39)	\$ (1.51)	\$ (2.46)
Diluted from continuing operations Diluted from discontinued operations	(0.10)	(0.04)	(0.16)	(0.05)

For all periods presented, the computation of diluted earnings (losses) per share excludes outstanding stock options with exercise prices greater than the average market price of Nabors' common shares, because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive and because they are not considered participating securities. For periods in which we experience a net loss from continuing operations, all potential common shares have been excluded from the calculation of weighted-average shares outstanding, because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. The average number of options that were

Table of Contents

excluded from diluted earnings (losses) per share that would potentially dilute earnings per share in the future were as follows:

	Three Mo Septembe	nths Ended r 30,	Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016
	(In thousands	s)		
Potentially dilutive securities excluded as anti-dilutive	4,484	5,369	4,534	5,388

In any period during which the average market price of Nabors' common shares exceeds the exercise prices of these stock options, such stock options will be included in our diluted earnings (losses) per share computation using the if-converted method of accounting. Restricted stock is included in our basic and diluted earnings (losses) per share computation using the two-class method of accounting in all periods because such stock is considered participating securities.

Note 10 Supplemental Balance Sheet and Income Statement Information

Accrued liabilities included the following:

	September 30,	December 31,
	2017 2016	
	(In thousands)	
Accrued compensation	\$ 112,277	\$ 116,775
Deferred revenue	241,812	255,626
Other taxes payable	25,306	16,419
Workers' compensation liabilities	18,255	18,255
Interest payable	21,187	57,233
Litigation reserves	19,675	24,896
Current liability to discontinued operations	6,063	5,462
Dividends declared and payable	17,153	17,039
Other accrued liabilities	23,619	31,543
	\$ 485,347	\$ 543,248

Other, net included the following:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Month September	
	2017	2016	2017	2016
	(In thousands)			
Losses (gains) on sales, disposals and involuntary				
conversions of long-lived assets	\$ 10,009	\$ 6,546	\$ 10,142	\$ 40,527 (1)
Other-than-temporary impairment of equity security				
(2)	_	3,495	_	3,495
Charges related to our CJES holdings (3)	_			220,117
Provision for International operations (4)	_	1,128		1,128
Litigation expenses and reserves	(2,387)	2,327	(777)	2,651
Foreign currency transaction losses (gains)	(763)	(1,102)	1,727	5,916
(Gain) loss on debt buyback	69	(680)	16,013	(6,707)
Other losses (gains)	(1,369)	(1,322)	2,068	276
	\$ 5,559	\$ 10,392	\$ 29,173	\$ 267,403

⁽¹⁾ Includes charges of \$22.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 related to a reserve for amounts associated with our retained interest in the oil and gas properties located on the North Slope of Alaska and a \$3.8 million charge to reduce the carrying value of one of our jack-up rigs, which was re-classified as assets held for sale at June 30, 2016, to its estimated fair value based on expected sales price.

⁽²⁾ Represents an other-than-temporary impairment charge related to an equity security. Because the trading price of this security remained below our cost basis for an extended period, we determined the investment was other than

Table of Contents

temporarily impaired and it was appropriate to write down the investment's carrying value to its current estimated fair value.

- (3) Represents impairment charges related to our CJES holdings. See Note 4 Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates.
- (4) Represents an obligation associated with the decision to exit a non-core business line in the region of \$1.1 million for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016.

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), by component, included the following:

	Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges	Unrealized gains (losses) on available- for-sale securities	Defined benefit pension plan items	Foreign currency items	Total
	(In thousands	s (1))			
As of January 1, 2016	\$ (1,670)	\$ (314)	\$ (6,568)	\$ (39,041)	\$ (47,593)
Other comprehensive income (loss)					
before reclassifications		3,551		27,870	31,421
Amounts reclassified from					
accumulated other comprehensive					
income (loss)	472	3,495	280	_	4,247
Net other comprehensive income		,			,
(loss)	472	7,046	280	27,870	35,668
As of September 30, 2016	\$ (1,198)	\$ 6,732	\$ (6,288)	\$ (11,171)	\$ (11,925)

⁽¹⁾ All amounts are net of tax.

	Gains	Unrealized gains (losses)	Defined		
	(losses) on cash flow	on available- for-sale	benefit pension plan	Foreign currency	
	hedges	securities	items	items	Total
	(In thousand	ds (1))			
As of January 1, 2017	\$ (1,296)	\$ 14,235	\$ (3,760)	\$ (21,298)	\$ (12,119)
Other comprehensive income (loss)					
before reclassifications		(5,122)	_	31,183	26,061
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive	281	1,341	93		1,715

income (loss)

Net other comprehensive income

(loss)	281	(3,781)	93	31,183	27,776
As of September 30, 2017	\$ (1,015)	\$ 10,454	\$ (3,667)	\$ 9,885	\$ 15,657

⁽¹⁾ All amounts are net of tax.

The line items that were reclassified to net income included the following:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016
	(In thousands)			
Interest expense	\$ 153	\$ 153	\$ 459	\$ 459
General and administrative expenses	50	297	150	765
Other expense (income), net	_	3,495	1,341	3,495
Total income (loss) from continuing operations before				
income tax	(203)	(3,945)	(1,950)	(4,719)
Tax expense (benefit)	(78)	(172)	(235)	(472)
Reclassification adjustment for (gains)/ losses included in net income (loss)	\$ (125)	\$ (3,773)	\$ (1,715)	\$ (4,247)

Tabla	of	Contents
1 able	OI.	Contents

Note 11 Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Assets Held for Sale

Assets held for sale as of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 was \$37.3 million and \$76.7 million, respectively. These assets consisted primarily of our oil and gas holdings which are mainly in the Horn River basin in western Canada of \$26.1 million and \$65.0 million, respectively, as of the periods noted above and the operating results have been reflected in discontinued operations. The remainder represents assets that meet the criteria to be classified as assets held for sale, but do not represent a disposal of a component of an entity or a group of components of an entity representing a strategic shift that has or will have a major effect on the entity's operations and financial results.

The carrying value of our assets held for sale represents the lower of carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. We continue to market these properties at prices that are reasonable compared to current fair value.

We have contracts with pipeline companies to pay specified fees based on committed volumes for gas transport and processing associated with these properties held for sale. At September 30, 2017, our undiscounted contractual commitments for these contracts approximated \$13.0 million and we had liabilities of \$9.9 million, \$6.1 million of which were classified as current and were included in accrued liabilities. At December 31, 2016, our undiscounted contractual commitments for these contracts approximated \$17.2 million and we had liabilities of \$12.5 million, \$5.5 million of which were classified as current and were included in accrued liabilities.

The amounts at each balance sheet date represented our best estimate of the fair value of the excess capacity of the pipeline commitments calculated using a discounted cash flow model, when considering our disposal plan, current production levels, natural gas prices and expected utilization of the pipeline over the remaining contractual term. Decreases in actual production or natural gas prices could result in future charges related to excess pipeline commitments.

Discontinued Operations

Our condensed statements of income (loss) from discontinued operations were as follows:

Edgar Filing: NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD - Form 10-Q

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months I September 30,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016
(In	thousands)			
Operating revenues (1)	\$ 1,077	\$ 688	\$ 5,171	\$ 1,449
Income (loss) from Oil & Gas discontinued				
operations:				
Income (loss) from discontinued operations	\$ (991)	\$ (836)	\$ (1,561)	\$ (3,501)
Less: Impairment charges or other (gains) and				
losses on sale of wholly owned assets (2)	34,469	15,392	51,028	15,388
Less: Income tax expense (benefit)	(8,326)	(4,041)	(9,512)	(4,792)
Income (loss) from Oil and Gas discontinued				
operations, net of tax	\$ (27,134)	\$ (12,187)	\$ (43,077)	\$ (14,097)

⁽¹⁾ Reflects operating revenues of our historical oil and gas operating segment.

⁽²⁾ Reflects impairment charges of \$35.3 million and \$15.4 million during each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, due to the deterioration of economic conditions in the dry gas market in western Canada. These assets are included in our assets held for sale balance as described above. Additionally, includes a charge of \$16.5 million related to the settlement of litigation associated with our previously owned Ramshorn International properties during the nine months ended September 30, 2017.

Table of Contents

Note 12 Segment Information

The following table sets forth financial information with respect to our reportable operating segments:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months E September 30,	inded
	2017	2016	2017	2016
	(In thousands)			
Operating revenues:				
Drilling & Rig Services:				
U.S.	\$ 222,747	\$ 116,095	\$ 572,025	\$ 405,113
Canada	18,073	10,444	63,002	34,555
International	374,106	363,552	1,092,667	1,165,631
Rig Services	87,538	58,950	251,993	152,051
Subtotal Drilling & Rig Services	702,464	549,041	1,979,687	1,757,350
Other reconciling items (1) Total	(40,361) \$ 662,103	(29,312) \$ 519,729	(123,679) \$ 1,856,008	(68,459) \$ 1,688,891

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months E September 30,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016
	(In thousands)			
Adjusted operating income (loss): (2)				
Drilling & Rig Services:				
U.S.	\$ (53,536)	\$ (58,876)	\$ (172,797)	\$ (154,763)
Canada	(7,494)	(10,156)	(16,519)	(28,265)
International	32,316	43,595	80,464	144,326
Rig Services	(4,671)	(12,937)	(15,048)	(43,238)
Total	\$ (33,385)	\$ (38,374)	\$ (123,900)	\$ (81,940)

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2017
2016

(In thousands)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2017
2016

2017
2016

Reconciliation of segment adjusted operating				
income (loss) to net income (loss) from				
continuing operations before income taxes:				
Total segment adjusted operating income (loss)				
(2)	\$ (33,385)	\$ (38,374)	\$ (123,900)	\$ (81,940)
Other reconciling items (3)	(40,820)	(33,600)	(123,531)	(97,205)
Earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates	4	2	6	(221,918)
Investment income (loss)	373	310	208	923
Interest expense	(54,607)	(46,836)	(165,813)	(137,803)
Other, net	(5,559)	(10,392)	(29,173)	(267,403)
Income (loss) from continuing operations				
before income taxes	\$ (133,994)	\$ (128,890)	\$ (442,203)	\$ (805,346)

Table of Contents

	September 30, 2017 (In thousands)	December 31, 2016
Total assets:		
Drilling & Rig Services:		
U.S.	\$ 3,288,663	\$ 3,172,767
Canada	341,114	329,620
International	3,433,515	3,600,057
Rig Services	443,169	359,435
Subtotal Drilling & Rig Services	7,506,461	7,461,879
Other reconciling items (3)	582,124	725,136
Total	\$ 8,088,585	\$ 8,187,015

- (1) Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions.
- (2) Adjusted operating income (loss) is computed by subtracting the sum of direct costs, general and administrative expenses, research and engineering expenses and depreciation and amortization from operating revenues. Management evaluates the performance of our operating segments using adjusted operating income (loss), which is a segment performance measure, because it believes that this financial measure reflects our ongoing profitability and performance. In addition, securities analysts and investors use this measure as one of the metrics on which they analyze our performance. A reconciliation to income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes is provided in the above table.
- (3) Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions and unallocated corporate expenses, assets and capital expenditures.

Note 13 Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Nabors has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of the issued public debt securities of Nabors Delaware, a wholly owned subsidiary. The following condensed consolidating financial information is included so that separate financial statements of Nabors Delaware are not required to be filed with the SEC. The condensed consolidating financial statements present investments in both consolidated and unconsolidated affiliates using the equity method of accounting.

The following condensed consolidating financial information presents condensed consolidating balance sheets as of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, statements of income (loss) and statements of other comprehensive

income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, and statements of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 of (a) Nabors, parent/guarantor, (b) Nabors Delaware, issuer of public debt securities guaranteed by Nabors, (c) the non-guarantor subsidiaries, (d) consolidating adjustments necessary to consolidate Nabors and its subsidiaries and (e) Nabors on a consolidated basis.

Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

Nabors		September 30, 2017					
Cash and cash equivalents \$ 386 \$ 47 \$ 190,123 \$ — \$ 190,556 Short-term investments — — 29,770 — 29,770 Accounts receivable, net — — 621,640 — 621,640 Inventory, net — — — 119,050 — 119,050 Assets held for sale — — — 37,275 — 37,275 Other current assets 50 27,869 148,711 — 176,630 Total current assets 436 27,916 1,146,569 — 1,174,92 Property, plant and equipment, net — — 6,051,606 — 6,051,60 Goodwill — — 134,757 417,432 — (552,189) — Investment in consolidated affiliates 2,789,805 5,411,796 3,875,639 (12,077,240) — Deferred tax assets — 514,579 444,796 (514,579) 444,796 Other long-term assets —		Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Nabors Delaware	Subsidiaries (Non-	-	Total	
Goodwill — — — 173,321 — 173,321 Intercompany receivables 134,757 417,432 — (552,189) — Investment in consolidated affiliates 2,789,805 5,411,796 3,875,639 (12,077,240) — Deferred tax assets — 514,579 444,796 (514,579) 444,796 Other long-term assets — 147 315,937 (72,143) 243,941 Total assets \$ 2,924,998 \$ 6,371,870 \$ 12,007,868 \$ (13,216,151) \$ 8,088,58 Current liabilities: Current portion of debt \$ — \$ — \$ 196 \$ — \$ 196 Trade accounts payable 426 171 316,717 — 317,314 Accrued liabilities 21,167 21,972 442,208 — 485,347 Income taxes payable — — 27,817 — 27,817 Total current liabilities 21,593 22,143 786,938 — 830,674 Long-term debt	Cash and cash equivalents Short-term investments Accounts receivable, net Inventory, net Assets held for sale Other current assets Total current assets Property, plant and			29,770 621,640 119,050 37,275 148,711 1,146,569	\$ — — — — — —	621,640 119,050	
Current liabilities: Current portion of debt \$ — \$ — \$ 196 \$ — \$ 196 Trade accounts payable 426 171 316,717 — 317,314 Accrued liabilities 21,167 21,972 442,208 — 485,347 Income taxes payable — — 27,817 — 27,817 Total current liabilities 21,593 22,143 786,938 — 830,674 Long-term debt — 4,030,758 — (72,143) 3,958,61	Goodwill Intercompany receivables Investment in consolidated affiliates Deferred tax assets Other long-term assets	2,789,805 —	5,411,796 514,579 147	173,321 — 3,875,639 444,796 315,937	(12,077,240) (514,579) (72,143)	6,031,000 173,321 — — 444,796 243,941 \$ 8,088,585	
Current portion of debt \$ — \$ — \$ 196 \$ — \$ 196 Trade accounts payable 426 171 316,717 — 317,314 Accrued liabilities 21,167 21,972 442,208 — 485,347 Income taxes payable — — 27,817 — 27,817 Total current liabilities 21,593 22,143 786,938 — 830,674 Long-term debt — 4,030,758 — (72,143) 3,958,61	Current liabilities	LIABILITIES A	AND EQUITY				
Deferred income taxes — — 534,867 (514,579) 20,288 Intercompany payable 2,000 — 550,189 (552,189) — Total liabilities 23,593 4,075,771 2,200,911 (1,138,911) 5,161,36 Shareholders' equity 2,901,405 2,296,099 9,781,141 (12,077,240) 2,901,40 Noncontrolling interest — 25,816 — 25,816 Total equity 2,901,405 2,296,099 9,806,957 (12,077,240) 2,927,22	Current portion of debt Trade accounts payable Accrued liabilities Income taxes payable Total current liabilities Long-term debt Other long-term liabilities Deferred income taxes Intercompany payable Total liabilities Shareholders' equity Noncontrolling interest Total equity	426 21,167 — 21,593 — — 2,000 23,593 2,901,405 — 2,901,405	171 21,972 — 22,143 4,030,758 22,870 — 4,075,771 2,296,099 — 2,296,099	316,717 442,208 27,817 786,938 — 328,917 534,867 550,189 2,200,911 9,781,141 25,816 9,806,957		317,314 485,347 27,817 830,674 3,958,615 351,787 20,288 — 5,161,364 2,901,405	

Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

	December 31, 2	2016			
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands) ASSETS	Nabors Delaware (Issuer)	Other Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total
Current assets:					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 1,148	\$ 10,177	\$ 252,768	\$ —	\$ 264,093
Short-term investments			31,109		31,109
Accounts receivable, net			508,355		508,355
Inventory, net	_		103,595		103,595
Assets held for sale	_		76,668	_	76,668
Other current assets	50	22,209	149,760	_	172,019
Total current assets	1,198	32,386	1,122,255	_	1,155,839
Property, plant and					
equipment, net	_	_	6,267,583	_	6,267,583
Goodwill			166,917	_	166,917
Intercompany receivables	142,447		1,342,942	(1,485,389)	
Investment in consolidated					
affiliates	3,170,254	4,830,572	1,083,948	(9,084,774)	
Deferred tax assets		443,049	366,586	(443,049)	366,586
Other long-term assets		344	447,962	(218,216)	230,090
Total assets	\$ 3,313,899	\$ 5,306,351	\$ 10,798,193	\$ (11,231,428)	\$ 8,187,015
	LIABILITIES A	AND EQUITY			
Current liabilities:					
Current portion of debt	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 297	\$ —	\$ 297
Trade accounts payable	205	8	264,365	_	264,578
Accrued liabilities	20,669	65,246	457,333	_	543,248
Income taxes payable			13,811		13,811
Total current liabilities	20,874	65,254	735,806	_	821,934
Long-term debt		3,796,550		(218,215)	3,578,335
Other long-term liabilities	_	22,659	499,797	_	522,456
Deferred income taxes	_	_	452,544	(443,049)	9,495
Intercompany payable	46,000	1,439,390	_	(1,485,390)	_
Total liabilities	66,874	5,323,853	1,688,147	(2,146,654)	4,932,220
Shareholders' equity	3,247,025	(17,502)	9,102,276	(9,084,774)	3,247,025
Noncontrolling interest	_	_	7,770	_	7,770
Total equity	3,247,025	(17,502)	9,110,046	(9,084,774)	3,254,795
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 3,313,899	\$ 5,306,351	\$ 10,798,193	\$ (11,231,428)	\$ 8,187,015

Table of Contents

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2017					
		Nabors	Other			
	Nabors	Delaware	Subsidiaries			
	(Parent/	(Issuer/	(Non-	Consolidating		
	Guarantor)	Guarantor)	Guarantors)	Adjustments	Total	
	(In thousands)	,	,	3		
Revenues and other income:						
Operating revenues	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 662,103	\$ —	\$ 662,103	
Earnings (losses) from						
unconsolidated affiliates			4		4	
Earnings (losses) from						
consolidated affiliates	(144,837)	(31,085)	(66,846)	242,768		
Investment income (loss)	1	(1)	3,353	(2,980)	373	
Total revenues and other						
income	(144,836)	(31,086)	598,614	239,788	662,480	
Operating income (loss)						
Costs and other deductions:						
Direct costs			441,263		441,263	
General and administrative						
expenses	3,705	243	61,552	(490)	65,010	
Research and engineering	_	_	12,960	_	12,960	
Depreciation and						
amortization		31	217,044		217,075	
Interest expense		56,429	(1,822)		54,607	
Other, net	(9)	60	5,018	490	5,559	
Total costs and other						
deductions	3,696	56,763	736,015		796,474	
Income (loss) from						
continuing operations before						
income taxes	(148,532)	(87,849)	(137,401)	239,788	(133,994)	
Income tax expense (benefit)	_	(21,003)	6,294	_	(14,709)	
Income (loss) from						
continuing operations, net of						
tax	(148,532)	(66,846)	(143,695)	239,788	(119,285)	
Income (loss) from						
discontinued operations, net						
of tax			(27,134)		(27,134)	
Net income (loss)	(148,532)	(66,846)	(170,829)	239,788	(146,419)	
Less: Net (income) loss						
attributable to noncontrolling						
interest	_	_	(2,113)	_	(2,113)	
Net income (loss) attributable						
to Nabors	\$ (148,532)	\$ (66,846)	\$ (172,942)	\$ 239,788	\$ (148,532)	

Table of Contents

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2016					
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Nabors Delaware (Issuer/ Guarantor)	Other Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total	
Revenues and other income:						
Operating revenues	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 519,729	\$ —	\$ 519,729	
Earnings (losses) from						
unconsolidated affiliates	_		2	_	2	
Earnings (losses) from						
consolidated affiliates	(107,229)	(45,527)	(77,423)	230,179		
Investment income (loss)	_		3,291	(2,981)	310	
Intercompany interest income	(0)	1.60		(152)		
(loss)	(9)	162		(153)		
Total revenues and other	(107.229)	(15.265)	445 500	227.045	520.041	
income Costs and other deductions:	(107,238)	(45,365)	445,599	227,045	520,041	
Direct costs			306,436		306,436	
General and administrative			300,430		300,130	
expenses	3,053	182	53,010	(167)	56,078	
Research and engineering			8,476	——————————————————————————————————————	8,476	
Depreciation and amortization	_	31	220,682	_	220,713	
Interest expense		50,595	(3,759)		46,836	
Other, net	929	(18)	9,314	167	10,392	
Intercompany interest expense	(9)		162	(153)		
Total costs and other						
deductions	3,973	50,790	594,321	(153)	648,931	
Income (loss) from continuing						
operations before income						
taxes	(111,211)	(96,155)	(148,722)	227,198	(128,890)	
Income tax expense (benefit)	_	(18,732)	(12,319)		(31,051)	
Income (loss) from continuing	(111 011)	(77. 400)	(126, 402)	227 100	(07,020)	
operations, net of tax	(111,211)	(77,423)	(136,403)	227,198	(97,839)	
Income (loss) from						
discontinued operations, net			(12 197)		(12 197)	
of tax Net income (loss)	— (111,211)	(77,423)	(12,187) (148,590)		(12,187) (110,026)	
Less: Net (income) loss	(111,211)	(77,423)	(140,390)	227,196	(110,020)	
attributable to noncontrolling						
interest			(1,185)	_	(1,185)	
Net income (loss) attributable			(1,100)		(1,100)	
to Nabors	\$ (111,211)	\$ (77,423)	\$ (149,775)	\$ 227,198	\$ (111,211)	
	. (,—/	. (, . = -)		, ,,====	. (-,)	

Table of Contents

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017					
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Nabors Delaware (Issuer/ Guarantor)	Other Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total	
Revenues and other income:						
Operating revenues	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 1,856,008	\$ —	\$ 1,856,008	
Earnings (losses) from						
unconsolidated affiliates			6		6	
Earnings (losses) from consolidated affiliates	(420, 200)	(102.067)	(222 962)	746 220		
	(420,300) 16	(102,067) 63	(223,862) 9,069	746,229 (8,940)	208	
Investment income (loss) Total revenues and other	10	03	9,009	(8,940)	208	
income	(420,284)	(102,004)	1,641,221	737,289	1,856,222	
Costs and other deductions:	(420,204)	(102,004)	1,041,221	131,207	1,030,222	
Direct costs			1,246,428		1,246,428	
General and administrative			1,2 10, 120		1,210,120	
expenses	10,362	573	182,173	(994)	192,114	
Research and engineering			36,060	-	36,060	
Depreciation and			,		,	
amortization	_	93	628,744		628,837	
Interest expense	_	173,689	(7,876)	_	165,813	
Other, net	(170)	19,033	9,316	994	29,173	
Intercompany interest						
expense	(9)		9			
Total costs and other						
deductions	10,183	193,388	2,094,854		2,298,425	
Income (loss) from						
continuing operations before						
income taxes	(430,467)	(295,392)	(453,633)	737,289	(442,203)	
Income tax expense (benefit)	_	(71,530)	11,716	_	(59,814)	
Income (loss) from						
continuing operations, net of	(400 465)	(222.052)	(467.040)	-2-2	(202 200)	
tax	(430,467)	(223,862)	(465,349)	737,289	(382,389)	
Income (loss) from						
discontinued operations, net			(42.077)		(42.077)	
of tax	(420, 467)	(222.962)	(43,077)	— 727.200	(43,077)	
Net income (loss)	(430,467)	(223,862)	(508,426)	737,289	(425,466)	
Less: Net (income) loss attributable to						
noncontrolling interest		_	(5,001)		(5,001)	
Net income (loss)			(3,001)		(3,001)	
attributable to Nabors	\$ (430,467)	\$ (223,862)	\$ (513,427)	\$ 737,289	\$ (430,467)	

Table of Contents

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016					
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Nabors Delaware (Issuer/ Guarantor)	Other Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total	
Revenues and other income:	(In thousands)					
Operating revenues	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 1,688,891	\$ —	\$ 1,688,891	
Earnings (losses) from	•	•	+ -,000,00	*	+ -,,	
unconsolidated affiliates			(221,918)	_	(221,918)	
Earnings (losses) from			, ,		,	
consolidated affiliates	(685,148)	(168,639)	(264,583)	1,118,370		
Investment income (loss)	1	132	9,733	(8,943)	923	
Intercompany interest income						
(loss)		417	_	(417)	_	
Total revenues and other						
income	(685,147)	(168,090)	1,212,123	1,109,010	1,467,896	
Costs and other deductions:						
Direct costs			1,012,738		1,012,738	
General and administrative						
expenses	7,767	448	167,302	(481)	175,036	
Research and engineering	_	_	24,818	_	24,818	
Depreciation and amortization	_	93	655,351	_	655,444	
Interest expense	_	152,318	(14,515)	_	137,803	
Other, net	1,245	(18)	265,695	481	267,403	
Intercompany interest expense	(4)	_	421	(417)	_	
Total costs and other						
deductions	9,008	152,841	2,111,810	(417)	2,273,242	
Income (loss) from continuing						
operations before income						
taxes	(694,155)	(320,931)	(899,687)	1,109,427	(805,346)	
Income tax expense (benefit)	_	(56,348)	(67,950)	_	(124,298)	
Income (loss) from continuing	(604455)	(0.54.700)	(004 =0=)	4 400 405	(604.040)	
operations, net of tax	(694,155)	(264,583)	(831,737)	1,109,427	(681,048)	
Income (loss) from						
discontinued operations, net			(1.4.007)		(1.4.007)	
of tax	<u> </u>	(264.502)	(14,097)		(14,097)	
Net income (loss)	(694,155)	(264,583)	(845,834)	1,109,427	(695,145)	
Less: Net (income) loss						
attributable to noncontrolling			000		000	
interest Not income (loss) attributable			990		990	
Net income (loss) attributable to Nabors	¢ (604 155)	¢ (264.592)	¢ (011 011)	¢ 1 100 427	¢ (604 155)	
to madois	\$ (694,155)	\$ (264,583)	\$ (844,844)	\$ 1,109,427	\$ (694,155)	

Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2017					
		Nabors	Other			
	Nabors	Delaware	Subsidiaries			
	(Parent/	(Issuer/	(Non-	Consolidating		
	Guarantor)	Guarantor)	Guarantors)	Adjustments	Total	
	(In thousands)			-		
Net income (loss) attributable						
to Nabors	\$ (148,532)	\$ (66,846)	\$ (172,942)	\$ 239,788	\$ (148,532)	
Other comprehensive income						
(loss) before tax:						
Translation adjustment						
attributable to Nabors	16,444		16,444	(16,444)	16,444	
Unrealized gains (losses) on						
marketable securities:						
Unrealized gains (losses) on						
marketable securities	(5,706)		(5,706)	5,706	(5,706)	
Less: reclassification						
adjustment for (gains) losses						
included in net income (loss)	_	_		_		
Unrealized gains (losses) on						
marketable securities	(5,706)		(5,706)	5,706	(5,706)	
Pension liability amortization						
and adjustment	50	50	100	(150)	50	
Unrealized gains (losses) and						
amortization on cash flow						
hedges	153	153	153	(306)	153	
Other comprehensive income						
(loss) before tax	10,941	203	10,991	(11,194)	10,941	
Income tax expense (benefit)						
related to items of other						
comprehensive income (loss)	78	78	156	(234)	78	
Other comprehensive income						
(loss), net of tax	10,863	125	10,835	(10,960)	10,863	
Comprehensive income (loss)						
attributable to Nabors	(137,669)	(66,721)	(162,107)	228,828	(137,669)	
Net income (loss) attributable						
to noncontrolling interest	_	_	2,113	_	2,113	
Translation adjustment						
attributable to noncontrolling			1.00		1.66	
interest	_	_	160	_	160	
Comprehensive income (loss)	_	_	2,273	_	2,273	
attributable to noncontrolling						

interest

Comprehensive income (loss) \$ (137,669) \$ (66,721) \$ (159,834) \$ 228,828 \$ (135,396)

Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2016				
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Nabors Delaware (Issuer/ Guarantor)	Other Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total
Net income (loss) attributable to Nabors Other comprehensive income (loss) before tax:	\$ (111,211)	\$ (77,423)	\$ (149,775)	\$ 227,198	\$ (111,211)
Translation adjustment attributable to Nabors Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities:	(8,950)	12	(8,938)	8,926	(8,950)
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities Less: reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses	1,502	_	2,782	(2,782)	1,502
included in net income (loss)	3,495	_	3,495	(3,495)	3,495
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities	4,997	_	6,277	(6,277)	4,997
Pension liability amortization and adjustment Unrealized gains (losses) and amortization on cash flow	297	297	594	(891)	297
hedges	153	153	153	(306)	153
Other comprehensive income (loss) before tax Income tax expense (benefit) related to items of other	(3,503)	462	(1,914)	1,452	(3,503)
comprehensive income (loss)	172	172	284	(456)	172
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	(3,675)	290	(2,198)	1,908	(3,675)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Nabors	(114,886)	(77,133)	(151,973)	229,106	(114,886)
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest Translation adjustment	_	_	1,185		1,185
attributable to noncontrolling interest Comprehensive income (loss)	_	_	(90)	_	(90)
attributable to noncontrolling interest Comprehensive income (loss)	 \$ (114,886)	 \$ (77,133)	1,095 \$ (150,878)	 \$ 229,106	1,095 \$ (113,791)

Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017					
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Nabors Delaware (Issuer/ Guarantor)	Other Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total	
Net income (loss) attributable to Nabors Other comprehensive income (loss) before tax	\$ (430,467)	\$ (223,862)	\$ (513,427)	\$ 737,289	\$ (430,467)	
Translation adjustment attributable to Nabors Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities:	31,183	_	31,183	(31,183)	31,183	
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities Less: reclassification	(5,122)	_	(5,122)	5,122	(5,122)	
adjustment for (gains) losses included in net income (loss) Unrealized gains (losses) on	1,341	_	1,341	(1,341)	1,341	
marketable securities	(3,781)	_	(3,781)	3,781	(3,781)	
Pension liability amortization and adjustment Unrealized gains (losses) and amortization on cash flow	150	150	300	(450)	150	
hedges	459	459	459	(918)	459	
Other comprehensive income (loss) before tax Income tax expense (benefit) related to items of other	28,011	609	28,161	(28,770)	28,011	
comprehensive income (loss)	235	235	470	(705)	235	
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax Comprehensive income	27,776	374	27,691	(28,065)	27,776	
(loss) attributable to Nabors Net income (loss)	(402,691)	(223,488)	(485,736)	709,224	(402,691)	
attributable to noncontrolling interest Translation adjustment	_	_	5,001	_	5,001	
attributable to noncontrolling interest Comprehensive income	_	_	317	_	317	
(loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest	_	_	5,318	_	5,318	

Comprehensive income

(loss) \$ (402,691) \$ (223,488) \$ (480,418) \$ 709,224 \$ (397,373)

Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 Nabors Other					
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Delaware (Issuer/ Guarantor)	Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total	
Net income (loss) attributable	Φ (604.155)	Φ (264.502)	Φ (0.4.4.0.4.4)	ф. 1.100.4 07	Φ (604.155)	
to Nabors	\$ (694,155)	\$ (264,583)	\$ (844,844)	\$ 1,109,427	\$ (694,155)	
Other comprehensive income (loss) before tax						
Translation adjustment						
attributable to Nabors	27,870	(39)	27,870	(27,831)	27,870	
Unrealized gains (losses) on	27,670	(39)	27,670	(27,031)	27,670	
marketable securities:						
Unrealized gains (losses) on						
marketable securities	3,551	_	3,551	(3,551)	3,551	
Less: reclassification	-,		2,222	(=,==)	-,	
adjustment for (gains) losses						
included in net income (loss)	3,495	_	3,495	(3,495)	3,495	
Unrealized gains (losses) on						
marketable securities	7,046	_	7,046	(7,046)	7,046	
Pension liability amortization						
and adjustment	765	765	1,530	(2,295)	765	
Unrealized gains (losses) and						
amortization on cash flow						
hedges	459	459	459	(918)	459	
Other comprehensive income	26.140	1 105	26.005	(20,000)	26.140	
(loss) before tax	36,140	1,185	36,905	(38,090)	36,140	
Income tax expense (benefit)						
related to items of other	472	472	765	(1,237)	472	
comprehensive income (loss) Other comprehensive income	4/2	412	703	(1,237)	4/2	
(loss), net of tax	35,668	713	36,140	(36,853)	35,668	
Comprehensive income (loss)	33,000	713	30,140	(30,033)	33,000	
attributable to Nabors	(658,487)	(263,870)	(808,704)	1,072,574	(658,487)	
Net income (loss) attributable	(000,107)	(200,070)	(000,701)	1,012,01	(000,107)	
to noncontrolling interest		_	(990)	_	(990)	
Translation adjustment			,			
attributable to noncontrolling						
interest		_	371	_	371	
Comprehensive income (loss)						
attributable to noncontrolling						
interest	_	_	(619)	_	(619)	
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$ (658,487)	\$ (263,870)	\$ (809,323)	\$ 1,072,574	\$ (659,106)	

Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidating Statements Cash Flows

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 Nabors Other				
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Delaware (Issuer/ Guarantor)	Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities Cash flows from investing activities:	\$ 103,187	\$ (199,071)	\$ 148,714	\$ (88,939)	\$ (36,109)
Purchases of investments Sales and maturities of	_	_	(6,722)	_	(6,722)
investments	_	_	12,533	_	12,533
Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses, net	_	_	(50,764)	_	(50,764)
Cash paid for investments in consolidated affiliates Capital expenditures	(100)	_	(75,960) (448,864)	76,060	— (448,864)
Proceeds from sales of assets	_	—		_	
and insurance claims Change in intercompany	_	_	32,805	_	32,805
balances Other changes in investing		(424,133)	424,133 (427)		<u>(427)</u>
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities Cash flows from financing activities:	(100)	(424,133)	(113,266)	76,060	(461,439)
Increase (decrease) in cash overdrafts Proceeds from issuance of	_	_	(78)	_	(78)
long-term debt Debt issuance costs Proceeds from revolving credit		411,200 (11,039)	_	_ _	411,200 (11,039)
facilities Proceeds from parent	_	410,000	_	_	410,000
contributions Proceeds from (payments for)	_	37,980	38,080	(76,060)	_
issuance of common shares Purchase of capped call	8,300			_	8,300
hedge transactions Reduction of long-term debt Dividends to shareholders		(40,250) (270,269)	— (112,546) —	 8,939	(40,250) (382,815) (51,346)
Proceeds from (payment for) commercial paper, net	(,)	78,000		- 7 7	78,000
Payments on term loan	_ _ _	(162,500) —		 	(162,500) (528)

Proceeds from (payments for)					
short-term borrowings					
Cash proceeds from equity					
component of exchangeable					
debt		159,952	_		159,952
Proceeds from issuance of					
intercompany debt	35,000	20,000	(55,000)		
Noncontrolling interest					
contribution	_		20,000	_	20,000
Paydown of intercompany					
debt	(79,000)	(20,000)	99,000	_	_
Distributions to					
Non-controlling interest	_		(7,272)	_	(7,272)
Distribution from subsidiary to					
parent	_	_	(80,000)	80,000	_
Other changes	(7,864)		_	_	(7,864)
Net cash (used for) provided by					
financing activities	(103,849)	613,074	(98,344)	12,879	423,760
Effect of exchange rate					
changes on cash and cash					
equivalents			251		251
Net increase (decrease) in cash					
and cash equivalents	(762)	(10,130)	(62,645)		(73,537)
Cash and cash equivalents,					
beginning of period	1,148	10,177	252,768	_	264,093
Cash and cash equivalents, end					
of period	\$ 386	\$ 47	\$ 190,123	\$ —	\$ 190,556

Table of Contents

Condensed Consolidating Statements Cash Flows

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 Nabors Other					
	Nabors (Parent/ Guarantor) (In thousands)	Delaware (Issuer/ Guarantor)	Subsidiaries (Non- Guarantors)	Consolidating Adjustments	Total	
Net cash provided by (used for)						
operating activities	\$ 18,320	\$ (276,655)	\$ 669,063	\$ (5,960)	\$ 404,768	
Cash flows from investing						
activities:					(2.1)	
Purchases of investments			(24)		(24)	
Sales and maturities of			- 15		- 1-	
investments	_	_	643	_	643	
Proceeds from sales of assets			26.505		26.505	
and insurance claims		_	26,597	_	26,597	
Cash paid for investments in		(0.6.450)	(1.50,000)	245 450		
consolidated affiliates		(86,459)	(159,000)	245,459	(204.050)	
Capital expenditures		_	(284,950)	_	(284,950)	
Change in intercompany		220 112	(220, 112)			
balances		239,112	(239,112)		(10)	
Other	_	_	(19)	_	(19)	
Net cash provided by (used for)		150 (52	((55.9(5)	245 450	(257.752)	
investing activities		152,653	(655,865)	245,459	(257,753)	
Cash flows from financing						
activities:						
Increase (decrease) in cash			5		E	
overdrafts	_	_	5	_	5	
Proceeds from (payments for) issuance of common shares	562				562	
Reduction in long-term debt	302	(350,000)	— (142,625)		(492,625)	
Dividends to shareholders	(39,887)	(330,000)	(142,023)	 5,960	(33,927)	
Proceeds from (payments for)	(39,887)	_		3,900	(33,921)	
commercial paper, net		15,000			15,000	
Proceeds from issuance of		13,000			13,000	
intercompany debt	25,500		(25,500)	_		
Proceeds from revolving credit	23,300		(23,300)			
facilities		560,000		_	560,000	
Reduction in revolving credit		300,000			300,000	
facilities		(260,000)			(260,000)	
Repurchase of common shares		(200,000) —	(1,687)		(1,687)	
Proceeds from (payments for)			(1,007)		(1,007)	
short-term borrowings			(6,388)		(6,388)	
Proceeds from parent			(0,200)		(0,000)	
contributions		159,000	86,459	(245,459)	_	
		,	, /	(,)		

Other changes	(4,313)		_	_	(4,313)
Net cash (used for) provided by					
financing activities	(18,138)	124,000	(89,736)	(239,499)	(223,373)
Effect of exchange rate changes					
on cash and cash equivalents	_	_	(1,129)	_	(1,129)
Net increase (decrease) in cash					
and cash equivalents	182	(2)	(77,667)	_	(77,487)
Cash and cash equivalents,					
beginning of period	873	10	253,647	_	254,530
Cash and cash equivalents, end					
of period	\$ 1,055	\$ 8	\$ 175,980	\$ —	\$ 177,043

Note 14 Subsequent Events

On October 28, 2017, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of \$0.06 per common share, which will be paid on January 3, 2018 to shareholders of record at the close of business on December 13, 2017.

Table of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

We often discuss expectations regarding our future markets, demand for our products and services, and our performance in our annual, quarterly and current reports, press releases, and other written and oral statements. Statements relating to matters that are not historical facts are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). These "forward-looking statements" are based on an analysis of currently available competitive, financial and economic data and our operating plans. They are inherently uncertain and investors should recognize that events and actual results could turn out to be significantly different from our expectations. By way of illustration, when used in this document, words such as "anticipate," "believe," "expect," "plan," "intend," "estimate," "project," "will," "should," "could," "may," "predict" and similar expressions are intendidentify forward-looking statements.

You should consider the following key factors when evaluating these forward-looking statements:

- · fluctuations and volatility in worldwide prices of and demand for oil and natural gas;
- · fluctuations in levels of oil and natural gas exploration and development activities;
- · fluctuations in the demand for our services:
- · competitive and technological changes and other developments in the oil and gas and oilfield services industries;
- · our ability to complete, and realize the expected benefits of, strategic transactions, including our announced joint venture in Saudi Arabia and the transaction with Tesco;
- the existence of operating risks inherent in the oil and gas and oilfield services industries;
- · the possibility of changes in tax laws and other laws and regulations;
- the possibility of political or economic instability, civil disturbance, war or acts of terrorism in any of the countries in which we do business; and
- · general economic conditions, including the capital and credit markets.

The above description of risks and uncertainties is by no means all-inclusive, but highlights certain factors that we believe are important for your consideration. For a more detailed description of risk factors that may affect us or our industry, please refer to Part I, Item 1A. — Risk Factors in our 2016 Annual Report.

Management Overview

This section is intended to help you understand our results of operations and our financial condition. This information is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our condensed consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto.

We own and operate the world's largest land-based drilling rig fleet and are a leading provider of offshore platform and drilling rigs in the United States and multiple international markets. Our business is comprised of our global land-based and offshore drilling rig operations and other rig services, consisting of equipment manufacturing, rig instrumentation and optimization software. We also specialize in wellbore placement solutions and are a leading provider of directional drilling and measurement while drilling systems and services. Our business consists of four reportable operating segments: U.S., Canada, International and Rig Services.

On August 13, 2017, Nabors signed an Arrangement Agreement to acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Tesco, with each outstanding common share of Tesco being exchanged for 0.68 common shares of Nabors. The Arrangement will create a leading rig equipment and drilling automation provider by combining Canrig,

Table of Contents

Nabors rig equipment division, with Tesco's rig equipment manufacturing, rental and aftermarket service business. Additionally, Tesco operates a tubular services business in numerous key regions globally, which will immediately benefit NDS's operation. Nabors estimates that it will issue approximately 32 million of its common shares in connection with this transaction. The consummation of the Arrangement is subject to approval by Tesco security holders, receipt of required regulatory approvals, approval by the Court of Queens Bench of Alberta, and satisfaction of waiver of other customary closing conditions. It is currently anticipated that the closing of the Arrangement will occur in the fourth quarter of 2017.

On September 5, 2017 we paid an initial amount of approximately \$50.9 million in cash, subject to customary closing adjustments, to acquire Stavanger, Norway based RDS, a provider of automated tubular and tool handling equipment for the onshore and offshore drilling markets. This transaction will allow us to integrate RDS's highly capable team and product offering with the technology portfolio of Canrig and strengthens the development of its drilling automation solutions.

Financial Results

Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016

Operating revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2017 totaled \$662.1 million, representing an increase of \$142.4 million, or 27%, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. We have seen a significant increase in the number of rigs working in the U.S. compared to the same period last year, which has led to higher revenues in our U.S. Drilling and Rig Services operating segments. Internationally, we experienced a decline in the number of rigs working of approximately 6%, which has partially offset the increases realized in the U.S. Drilling segment.

Net loss from continuing operations attributable to Nabors of \$121.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017 (\$0.42 per diluted share), increased by \$22.4 million compared to a net loss from continuing operations attributable to Nabors of \$99.0 million (\$0.35 per diluted share) for the three months ended September 30, 2016. The primary driver was a \$16.3 million reduction in income tax benefits due to a lower effective tax rate attributable to increased earnings in high tax jurisdictions. Segment adjusted operating income (loss), which is our primary measure of operating performance, was relatively flat for the comparable periods, \$33.4 million and \$38.4 million the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. See "Segment Results of Operations" for further information on the changes to segment adjusted operating income (loss).

General and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 totaled \$65.0 million, representing an increase of \$8.9 million, or 16%, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. This is reflective of a slight increase in salaries and other compensation as well as an increase in headcount in response to the increase in drilling activity.

Research and engineering expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 totaled \$13.0 million, representing an increase of \$4.5 million, or 53%, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. The increase is a result of increased efforts towards a number of strategic research and engineering projects.

Depreciation and amortization expense for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was \$217.1 million, representing a marginal decrease of \$3.6 million, or 2%, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. The decrease was primarily due to the impact from retirements and impairments of various rigs and rig equipment in late 2016 partially offset by incremental depreciation associated with capital expenditures as we upgrade our existing rig fleet.

Segment Results of Operations

Our business consists of four reportable operating segments: U.S., Canada, International and Rig Services. Our Rig Services segment is comprised of our drilling technology and top drive manufacturing, directional drilling, rig instrumentation and software services.

Management evaluates the performance of our operating segments using adjusted operating income (loss), which is our segment performance measure, because it believes that this financial measure reflects our ongoing profitability and performance. In addition, securities analysts and investors use this measure as one of the metrics on which they analyze

Table of Contents

our performance. Adjusted operating income (loss) is computed by subtracting the sum of direct costs, general and administrative expenses, research and engineering expenses and depreciation and amortization from operating revenues.

The following tables set forth certain information with respect to our reportable segments and rig activity:

	Three Months Ended September 30,			
	2017	2016	Increase/(Decrease)	
(In	thousands, exce			
U.S.			•	
Operating revenues	\$ 222,747	\$ 116,095	\$ 106,652 92	%
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ (53,536)	\$ (58,876)	\$ 5,340 9	%
Average rigs working (1)	107.2	57.3	49.9 87	%
Canada				
Operating revenues	\$ 18,073	\$ 10,444	\$ 7,629 73	%
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ (7,494)	\$ (10,156)	\$ 2,662	%
Average rigs working (1)	13.5	8.8	4.7 53	%
International				
Operating revenues	\$ 374,106	\$ 363,552	\$ 10,554	%
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ 32,316	\$ 43,595	\$ (11,279) (26)	%
Average rigs working (1)	91.3	97.4	(6.1) (6)	%
Rig Services				
Operating revenues	\$ 87,538	\$ 58,950	\$ 28,588 48	%
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ (4,671)	\$ (12,937)	\$ 8,266 64	%

⁽¹⁾ Represents a measure of the average number of rigs operating during a given period. For example, one rig operating 45 days during a quarter represents approximately 0.5 average rigs working for the quarter. On an annual period, one rig operating 182.5 days represents approximately 0.5 average rigs working for the year.

U.S.

Our U.S. Drilling segment includes land drilling activities in the lower 48 states, Alaska and offshore operations in the Gulf of Mexico.

Operating results increased during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding 2016 period primarily due to an 87% increase in the average number of rigs working during the third quarter of 2017 compared to 2016. This increase in activity was the primary contributor to the \$106.7 million, or 92%, increase in operating revenues. Although we experienced an increase in activity during the period, dayrates continue to be lower on average than the comparable prior period. This has had a mitigating impact on our average daily margins, revenues and adjusted operating income. Rig activity has begun to stabilize and we expect the average dayrates and margins to continue to improve.

Canada

Operating results increased during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding 2016 period due to an increase in drilling rig activity, as evidenced by the increase in average number of rigs working during the third quarter of 2017 compared to 2016. Similar to our U.S. Drilling segment, dayrates continue to be lower on average than the comparable prior period which mitigates the impact of the increased activity during the period.

Edgar Filing: NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD - Form 10-Q
Table of Contents
International
Operating results decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding 2016 period primarily due to a 6% reduction in average number of rigs working during the third quarter of 2017 compared to 2016. This decline in activity and utilization is attributed primarily to Algeria and Russia. Partially offsetting these declines was a significant increase in income driven by increased drilling activity in Colombia and Kazakhstan.
Rig Services
Operating results increased during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding 2016 period primarily due to the increase in drilling activity in the U.S. for the period and in the demand for our products and services. The revenue increase in the segment is driven by both an increase in capital equipment deliveries from Canrig and also increased revenue from our NDS division. The latter saw significant increases in demand for our performance tools, such as ROCKit® and REVit®, as well as wellbore placement services, as the rig activity in the U.S. has increased significantly. NDS product lines accounted for an approximate \$11.0 million increase in adjusted operating income (loss) of this operating segment.
Other Financial Information
Interest expense
Interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was \$54.6 million, representing an increase of \$7.8 million, or 17%, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. The increase was primarily due to the additional interest expense related to the issuance of \$600 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.5% senior notes due 2023 during December 2016 as well as the issuance of \$575 million in aggregate principal amount of 0.75% senior exchangeable notes due 2024 during January 2017. This increase was partially offset by a reduction in interest expense due to the repurchase of approximately \$368.9 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.15% senior notes due 2018 since September 30, 2016.
Other, net

Other, net for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was \$5.6 million of expense, which included a net loss on sales and disposals of assets of approximately \$10.0 million. These losses were partially offset by a decrease in our

litigation reserves of \$2.4 million and foreign currency exchange gains of \$0.8 million.

Other, net for the three months ended September 30, 2016 was \$10.4 million of expense, which included net losses on sales and disposals of assets of approximately \$6.5 million, an other-than-temporary impairment to an equity security of \$3.5 million and increases to our litigation reserves of \$2.3 million. These losses were partially offset by foreign currency exchange gains of \$1.1 million.

Income tax rate

Our worldwide effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was 11.0% compared to 24.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2016. The change was attributable to the effect of the geographic mix of pre-tax earnings (losses), partially attributable to higher earnings from the increase in activity in the U.S. Drilling segment. We are evaluating future tax planning strategies, which could impact deferred tax assets and materially impact the fourth quarter effective tax rate.

Discontinued Operations

Our discontinued operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 consisted of our historical wholly owned oil and gas businesses. Income (loss) from discontinued operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was a loss of \$27.1 million compared to a loss of \$12.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016. During the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, we recognized impairment charges of \$35.3 million and \$15.4 million, respectively, due to the deterioration of economic conditions in the dry gas market in western Canada.

Table of Contents

Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016

Operating revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 totaled \$1.9 billion, representing an increase of \$167.1 million, or 10%, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016. We experienced an increase in operating revenue across the majority of our operating segments as we ramped up activity across the U.S. and Canada. Although we have seen an increase in activity, spot pricing remains under pressure which constrains our ability to fully realize the benefit from the increase in overall activity. Internationally, we experienced a decline in the number of rigs working of approximately 11%, which further impacted operating revenue.

Net loss from continuing operations attributable to Nabors totaled \$387.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 (\$1.35 per diluted share) compared to a net loss from continuing operations attributable to Nabors of \$680.1 million (\$2.41 per diluted share) for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. This improvement was primarily a result of no longer maintaining an equity method investment in CJES, which accounted for \$442.0 million of our net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 related to our share of the net loss of CJES as well as impairment charges associated with the investment. Approximately \$123.9 million and \$81.9 million of the net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, was attributable to our segment adjusted operating income (loss), which is our primary measure of operating performance. See Segment Results of Operations for further information on the changes to segment adjusted operating income (loss).

General and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 totaled \$192.1 million, representing an increase of \$17.1 million, or 10%, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016. This is reflective of a slight increase in salaries and other compensation as well as increases in headcount as a result of increased activity.

Research and engineering expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 totaled \$36.1 million, representing an increase of \$11.2 million, or 45%, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The increase is a result of increased efforts towards a number of strategic research and engineering projects as the market rebalanced and activity increased.

Depreciation and amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was \$628.8 million, representing a decrease of \$26.6 million, or 4%, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The decrease was primarily due to the impact from retirements and impairments of various rigs and rig equipment in late 2016 partially offset by incremental depreciation associated with capital expenditures as we upgrade our existing rig fleet.

Table of Contents

Segment Results of Operations

The following tables set forth certain information with respect to our reportable segments and rig activity:

	Nine Months En September 30, 2017	2016	Increase/(Decr	ease)	
		_010	1110104307 (2001	-	
U.S. Operating revenues	\$ 572,025	\$ 405,113	\$ 166,912	41	%
Operating revenues Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ 372,023 \$ (172,797)	\$ 403,113 \$ (154,763)	\$ (18,034)	(12)	% %
Average rigs working (1)	98.9	58.6	40.3	69	%
Canada					
Operating revenues	\$ 63,002	\$ 34,555	\$ 28,447	82	%
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ (16,519)	\$ (28,265)	\$ 11,746	42	%
Average rigs working (1)	15.9	8.5	7.4	87	%
International					
Operating revenues	\$ 1,092,667	\$ 1,165,631	\$ (72,964)	(6)	%
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ 80,464	\$ 144,326	\$ (63,862)	(44)	%
Average rigs working (1)	91.3	103.0	(11.7)	(11)	%
Rig Services					
Operating revenues	\$ 251,993	\$ 152,051	\$ 99,942	66	%
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ (15,048)	\$ (43,238)	\$ 28,190	65	%

⁽¹⁾ Represents a measure of the average number of rigs operating during a given period. For example, one rig operating 45 days during a quarter represents approximately 0.5 average rigs working for the quarter. On an annual period, one rig operating 182.5 days represents approximately 0.5 average rigs working for the year.

U.S.

Operating results decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding 2016 period. We experienced a 69% increase in the average number of rigs working during the first nine months of 2017 compared to 2016, which was the primary contributor to the \$166.9 million, or 41%, increase in operating revenues. As noted previously, dayrates have been lower on average which mitigates the impact the increased activity has on our average daily margins and adjusted operating income. Additionally, positive results were partially offset by a decrease in operating revenue and adjusted operating income in our offshore operations. Our results for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 included a favorable resolution of negotiations for one of our rigs in the Gulf of Mexico, which resulted in partial recovery of standby revenues for past quarters of approximately \$20.9 million. The

absence of this incremental revenue in combination with a decline in the number of rigs working in the Gulf of Mexico also contributed to the overall decline in operating results.
Canada
Operating results increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding 2016 period due to an increase in drilling rig activity, as evidenced by the increase in average number of rigs working during the first nine months of 2017 compared to 2016.
International
Operating results decreased during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding 2016 period primarily due to the loss of revenue and increased costs related to downtime incurred to perform structural work on many of our rigs in our largest international market. Additionally, results were negatively impacted by an 11% reduction in average number of rigs working during the first nine months of 2017 compared to 2016. Partially offsetting these declines were increased drilling activity in Colombia, Kazakhstan and Kuwait.
Rig Services
Operating results increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the corresponding 2016 period primarily due to the significant increase in drilling activity in the U.S. for the period and in the demand for our
42

Table of Contents

products and services. The revenue increase in the segment is driven by both an increase in capital equipment deliveries from Canrig and also increases in revenue from our NDS division. The latter saw significant increases in demand for our performance tools, such as ROCKit® and REVit®, as well as wellbore placement services, as the rig activity in the U.S. has increased significantly. Approximately \$22.7 million of the increase in the adjusted operating income (loss) of this operating segment is attributable to NDS.

Other Financial Information

Earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates

Earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates represents our share of the net income (loss), as adjusted for our basis differences, of our equity method investments. We previously accounted for our investment in CJES under the equity method on a one-quarter lag through June 30, 2016. On July 20, 2016, CJES voluntarily filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. As a result, beginning with the third quarter of 2016, we ceased accounting for our investment under the equity method of accounting. Earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 includes our share of the net income (loss) of CJES from October 1, 2015 through March 31, 2016, resulting in a loss of \$221.9 million, inclusive of charges of \$138.5 million representing our share of CJES's fixed asset impairment charges for the period.

Interest expense

Interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was \$165.8 million, representing an increase of \$28.0 million, or 20%, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The increase was primarily due to the additional interest expense related to the issuance of \$600 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.5% senior notes due 2023 during December 2016 as well as the issuance of \$575 million in aggregate principal amount of 0.75% senior exchangeable notes due 2024 during January 2017. This increase was partially offset by a reduction in interest expense due to the repayment of the term loan facility in conjunction with the repurchase or redemption of approximately \$368.9 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.15% senior notes due 2018 since September 30, 2016.

Other, net

Other, net for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was \$29.2 million of expense, which included a loss on debt buy-backs of \$16.0 million, net losses on sales and disposals of assets of approximately \$10.1 million and foreign currency exchange losses of \$1.7 million.

Other, net for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was \$267.4 million of expense. This was primarily composed of impairments associated with our CJES holdings in the amount of \$220.1 million resulting from declines in the fair value of our investment including other than temporary impairment charges of \$192.4 million and other charges culminating from litigation expenses surrounding the bankruptcy proceedings and the reserve of certain other amounts associated with our CJES holdings, including affiliate receivables of \$27.7 million. Further contributing to the expense for the period were net losses on sales and disposals of assets of approximately \$40.5 million, inclusive of \$22.4 million in write downs to our oil and gas properties located on the North Slope of Alaska, and foreign currency exchange losses of approximately \$5.9 million, partially offset by a net gain on debt buybacks of approximately \$6.7 million.

Income tax rate

Our worldwide effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was 13.5% compared to 15.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The change was attributable to the effect of the geographic mix of pre-tax earnings (losses), partially attributable to higher earnings from the increase in activity in the U.S. Drilling segment. The tax effect of our share of the net loss of CJES for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 also contributed to the change. We are evaluating future tax planning strategies, which could impact deferred tax assets and materially impact the fourth quarter effective tax rate.

Discontinued Operations

Our discontinued operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 consisted of our historical wholly owned oil and gas businesses. Income (loss) from discontinued operations for the nine months ended

Table of Contents

September 30, 2017 was a loss of \$43.1 million compared to a loss of \$14.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, we recognized impairment charges of \$35.3 million and \$15.4 million, respectively, due to the deterioration of economic conditions in the dry gas market in western Canada. Additionally, our net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 included a \$16.5 million charge related to the settlement of litigation associated with our previously owned Ramshorn International properties.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial Condition and Sources of Liquidity

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash and investments and availability under our revolving credit facility and commercial paper program. As of September 30, 2017, we had cash and short-term investments of \$220.3 million and working capital of \$344.2 million, both amounts include \$40.0 million in cash to be used exclusively by SANAD, our joint venture in Saudi Arabia, to fund future operations. As of December 31, 2016, we had cash and short-term investments of \$295.2 million and working capital of \$333.9 million. At September 30, 2017, we had \$488.0 million outstanding under our \$2.25 billion revolving credit facility and commercial paper program.

In December 2016, Nabors Delaware completed an offering of \$600 million aggregate principal amount of 5.50% senior unsecured notes due January 15, 2023, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Nabors. The proceeds from this offering were used to prepay the \$162.5 million portion under our unsecured term loan that was due in 2018 and all amounts then outstanding under our \$2.25 billion revolving credit facility and commercial paper program, or \$392.1 million. The remaining proceeds were allocated for general corporate purposes, including to repay and repurchase debt.

In January 2017, Nabors Delaware issued \$575 million in aggregate principal amount of its 0.75% exchangeable senior unsecured notes due 2024, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Nabors. The net proceeds from the offering of the exchangeable notes were used to prepay the remaining balance of our unsecured term loan originally scheduled to mature in 2020, as well as to pay approximately \$40.3 million for the cost of the capped call transactions entered into in connection with the offering. The remaining net proceeds from the offering were allocated for general corporate purposes, including the repurchase of approximately \$162.5 million aggregate principal amount of our 6.15% senior notes due February 2018.

We had 15 letter-of-credit facilities with various banks as of September 30, 2017. Availability under these facilities as of September 30, 2017 was as follows:

	September 30,
	2017
	(In thousands)
Credit available	\$ 758,971
Less: Letters of credit outstanding, inclusive of financial and performance guarantees	121,561
Remaining availability	\$ 637,410

Our ability to access capital markets or to otherwise obtain sufficient financing is affected by our senior unsecured debt ratings as provided by the major credit rating agencies in the United States and our historical ability to access these markets as needed. While there can be no assurances that we will be able to access these markets in the future, we believe that we will be able to access capital markets or otherwise obtain financing in order to satisfy any payment obligation that might arise upon exchange or purchase of our notes and that any cash payment due, in addition to our other cash obligations, would not ultimately have a material adverse impact on our liquidity or financial position. The major U.S. credit rating agencies have recently downgraded our senior unsecured debt rating. These downgrades, and downgrades in the future, may impact how we access debt markets, increase the cost of debt, and potentially require us to post letters of credit for certain obligations.

Our gross debt to capital ratio was 0.58:1 as of September 30, 2017 and 0.52:1 as of December 31, 2016. Our net debt to capital ratio was 0.56:1 as of September 30, 2017 and 0.50:1 as of December 31, 2016. The gross debt to capital ratio is calculated by dividing total debt by total capitalization (total debt plus shareholders' equity). The net debt to capital ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by net capitalization. Net debt is defined as total debt minus the sum of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. Net capitalization is defined as net debt plus shareholders' equity. Availability under the revolving credit facility is subject to a covenant not to exceed a net debt to capital ratio of 0.60:1.

Table of Contents

Neither the gross debt to capital ratio nor the net debt to capital ratio is a measure of operating performance or liquidity defined by GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.

Our interest coverage ratio was 2.5:1 as of September 30, 2017 and 3.4:1 as of December 31, 2016. The interest coverage ratio is a trailing 12-month quotient of the sum of (x) operating revenues, direct costs, general and administrative expenses and research and engineering expenses divided by (y) interest expense. The interest coverage ratio is not a measure of operating performance or liquidity defined by GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.

Our current cash and investments, projected cash flows from operations and our revolving credit facility are expected to adequately finance our purchase commitments, capital expenditures, acquisitions, scheduled debt service requirements, and all other expected cash requirements for the next 12 months.

Future Cash Requirements

We expect capital expenditures over the next 12 months to be less than \$0.6 billion. Purchase commitments outstanding at September 30, 2017 totaled approximately \$246.1 million, primarily for rig-related enhancements, new rig equipment, as well as sustaining capital expenditures, other operating expenses and purchases of inventory. We can reduce planned expenditures if necessary or increase them if market conditions and new business opportunities warrant it. The level of our outstanding purchase commitments and our expected level of capital expenditures over the next 12 months represent a number of capital programs that are currently underway or planned. We believe these programs will result in the enhancement of a significant number of rigs in our existing Lower 48 fleet. When the programs are completed, we expect to have a larger fleet of high-specification land rigs deployed in the Lower 48. We believe the capabilities of these high-specification rigs will meet or exceed requirements from customers.

We have historically completed a number of acquisitions and will continue to evaluate opportunities to acquire assets or businesses to enhance our operations. Several of our previous acquisitions were funded through issuances of debt or our common shares. Future acquisitions may be funded using existing cash or by issuing debt or additional shares of our stock. Such capital expenditures and acquisitions will depend on our view of market conditions and other factors.

See our discussion of guarantees issued by Nabors that could have a potential impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows in future periods included below under "Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements (Including Guarantees)".

There have been no material changes to the contractual cash obligations table that was included in our 2016 Annual Report.

On August 25, 2015, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program (the "program") under which we may repurchase, from time to time, up to \$400 million of our common shares by various means, including in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. This authorization does not have an expiration date and does not obligate us to repurchase any of our common shares. Since establishing the program, we have repurchased 10.9 million of our common shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$101.3 million under this program. As of September 30, 2017, the remaining amount authorized under the program that may be used to purchase shares was \$298.7 million. The repurchased shares, which are held by our subsidiaries, are registered and tradable subject to applicable securities law limitations and have the same voting and other rights as other outstanding shares. As of September 30, 2017, our subsidiaries held 49.7 million of our common shares.

We may from time to time seek to retire or purchase our outstanding debt through cash purchases and/or exchanges for equity securities, both in open-market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such repurchases or exchanges, if any, will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors and may involve material amounts.

Table of Contents

Cash Flows

Our cash flows depend, to a large degree, on the level of spending by oil and gas companies for exploration, development and production activities. Sustained decreases in the price of oil or natural gas could have a material impact on these activities, and could also materially affect our cash flows. Certain sources and uses of cash, such as the level of discretionary capital expenditures or acquisitions, purchases and sales of investments, loans, issuances and repurchases of debt and of our common shares are within our control and are adjusted as necessary based on market conditions. We discuss our cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 below.

Operating Activities. Net cash used for operating activities totaled \$36.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2017, compared to net cash provided of \$404.8 million during the corresponding 2016 period. Operating cash flows are our primary source of capital and liquidity. The decrease in our operating cash flows was primarily due to a substantial turnaround in cash required for working capital. Changes in working capital items such as collection of receivables, other deferred revenue arrangements and payments of operating payables are significant factors affecting operating cash flows. Changes in working capital items used \$231.9 million and provided \$83.0 million in cash during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. This represents a \$314.9 million swing in cash generation as operating revenues and activity increased during the current period, which increases our working capital requirements. This compares to the 2016 period, where operating revenues and activity were still trending downward, which resulted in operating cash flow benefits from working capital. The balance of the decrease is attributable to reduced earnings adjusted for non-cash items during the 2017 period compared to the 2016 period.

Investing Activities. Net cash used for investing activities totaled \$461.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to \$257.8 million during the corresponding 2016 period. Our primary use of cash for investing activities is for capital expenditures related to rig-related enhancements, new construction and equipment, as well as sustaining capital expenditures. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, we used cash for capital expenditures totaling \$448.9 million and \$285.0 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, we also paid \$50.8 million net cash for business acquisitions.

Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities totaled \$423.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to net cash used of \$223.4 million during the corresponding 2016 period. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, we received net proceeds of \$519.9 million in connection with the issuance of our exchangeable senior unsecured notes and \$488.0 million in amounts borrowed under our commercial paper program and revolving credit facility. This was partially offset by the repayment of the remaining balance of our unsecured term loan of \$162.5 million and the repurchase or redemption of \$382.8 million, reflecting principal and premiums incurred in connection with these repurchases, in long-term debt due in 2018. Additionally, we paid dividends of \$51.3 million and received proceeds of \$8.3 million due to stock options exercised and \$20.0 million in contributions from non-controlling interest. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we received net proceeds in amounts borrowed under our revolving credit facility of \$300.0 million. This was offset by the repurchase of \$492.6 million in long-term debt coupled with the payment of \$33.9 million in dividends to shareholders.

Other Matters
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements (Including Guarantees)
We are a party to transactions, agreements or other contractual arrangements defined as "off-balance sheet arrangements" that could have a material future effect on our financial position, results of operations, liquidity and capital resources. The most significant of these off-balance sheet arrangements involve agreements and obligations under which we provide financial or performance assurance to third parties. Certain of these agreements serve as guarantees, including standby letters of credit issued on behalf of insurance carriers in conjunction with our workers' compensation insurance program and other financial surety instruments such as bonds. In addition, we have provided indemnifications, which serve as guarantees, to some third parties. These guarantees include indemnification provided by us to our share transfer agent and our insurance carriers. We are not able to estimate the potential future maximum payments that might be due under our indemnification guarantees. Management believes the likelihood that we would

be required to perform or otherwise incur any material losses associated with any of these guarantees is remote.

Table of Contents

The following table summarizes the total maximum amount of financial guarantees issued by Nabors:

	Maximum A	Amount			
	2017	2018	2019	Thereafter	Total
	(In thousand	ds)			
Financial standby letters of credit and other					
financial surety instruments	\$ 98,050	165,311			\$ 263,361

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We may be exposed to market risks arising from the use of financial instruments in the ordinary course of business as discussed in our 2016 Annual Report. There were no material changes in our exposure to market risk during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 from those disclosed in our 2016 Annual Report.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d 15(e) under the Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We have investments in certain unconsolidated entities that we do not control or manage. Because we do not control or manage these entities, our disclosure controls and procedures with respect to these entities are necessarily more limited than those we maintain with respect to our consolidated subsidiaries.

The Company's management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

PART II OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Nabors and its subsidiaries are defendants or otherwise involved in a number of lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. We estimate the range of our liability related to pending litigation when we believe the amount and range of loss can be estimated. We record our best estimate of a loss when the loss is considered probable. When a liability is probable and there is a range of estimated loss with no best estimate in the range, we record the minimum estimated liability related to the lawsuits or claims. As additional information becomes available, we assess the potential liability related to our pending litigation and claims and revise our estimates. Due to uncertainties related to the resolution of lawsuits and claims, the ultimate outcome may differ from our estimates. For matters where an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible and significant, we disclose the nature of the matter and a range of potential exposure, unless an estimate cannot be made at the time of disclosure. In the opinion of management and based on liability accruals provided, our ultimate exposure with respect to these pending lawsuits and claims is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our condensed consolidated financial position or cash flows, although they could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations for a particular reporting period. See Note 8 — Commitments and Contingencies for a description of such proceedings.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

As of the date of this filing, there have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A, of our 2016 Annual Report, except as set forth below. These risks, in addition to the information set forth elsewhere in this report and in the 2016 Annual Report, should be carefully considered when evaluating us. They risks are not the only risks we face. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business.

A downgrade in our credit rating could negatively impact our cost of and ability to access capital markets or other financing sources.

Our ability to access capital markets or to otherwise obtain sufficient financing is affected by our senior unsecured debt ratings as provided by the major U.S. credit rating agencies. Factors that may impact our credit ratings include debt levels, asset purchases or sales, as well as near-term and long-term growth opportunities and industry conditions. Liquidity, asset quality, cost structure, market diversity, and commodity pricing levels and others are also considered by the rating agencies. The major U.S. credit ratings agencies have recently downgraded our senior unsecured debt rating. These ratings downgrades may impact our cost of and ability to access capital markets or other financing

sources, any of which could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The ability of Tesco and Nabors to complete the Arrangement is subject to the satisfaction of certain closing conditions, including the receipt of consents and approvals from government entities, which may result in the Arrangement being abandoned or the impositi8on of adverse conditions on Tesco or Nabors.

The Arrangement agreement contains certain closing conditions, including approval of the Arrangement by Tesco security holders, the absence of injunctions or other legal restrictions and that no material adverse effect shall have occurred with respect to either company. In addition, Tesco and Nabors will be unable to complete the Arrangement until the expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act ("the HSR Act") and consents and approvals are received from the Canadian and other governmental entities. Regulatory entities may impose certain requirements or obligations as conditions for their approval. If the regulatory clearances are not received, or they are not received on terms that satisfy the conditions set forth in the Arrangement agreement, then neither Nabors nor Tesco will be obligated to complete the Arrangement. We can provide no assurance that the various closing conditions will be satisfied and that the necessary approvals will be obtained, or that any required conditions will not materially adversely affect the combined company following the Arrangement. In addition, we can provide no assurance that these conditions will not result in the abandonment or delay of the Arrangement.

Table of Contents

Failure to complete the Arrangement could negatively impact Nabors.

If the Arrangement is not completed, the ongoing businesses and the market price of the common stock of Nabors may be adversely affected and Nabors would be subject to several risks, including Nabors having to pay certain costs relating to the Arrangement and diverting the focus of management from pursuing other opportunities that could be beneficial to Nabors, in each case, without realizing any of the benefits which might have resulted had the Arrangement been completed.

Lawsuits have been filed against Nabors and Tesco challenging the Arrangement with Tesco, and an adverse ruling in any such lawsuit may prevent the Arrangement from being completed.

Subsequent to the announcement of the Arrangement, at least three putative class action lawsuits have been commenced on behalf of shareholders of Tesco challenging aspects of the Arrangement. See Note 8 – Commitments and Contingencies for a description of the lawsuit naming Nabors as a defendant. Additional lawsuits with similar allegations may be filed. One of the conditions to the closing of the Arrangement is that no law, order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling or other similar requirement shall be in effect that prohibits the completion of the Arrangement. Accordingly, if any of the plaintiffs is successful in obtaining an injunction prohibiting the completion of the Arrangement, then such injunction may prevent the Arrangement from becoming effective, or delay its becoming effective within the expected time frame.

The combined company could incur substantial expenses related to the Arrangement and the integration of Tesco and Nabors.

Nabors expects that the combined company will incur substantial expenses in connection with the pending Arrangement and the integration of their respective businesses, policies, procedures, operations, technologies and systems. There are a large number of systems that must be integrated, including information management, purchasing, accounting and finance, sales, billing, payroll and benefits, fixed asset and lease administration systems and regulatory compliance. There are a number of factors beyond the control of either Nabors or Tesco that could affect the total amount or the timing of all of the expected integration expenses. Moreover, many of the expenses that will be incurred, by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately at the present time. These expenses could, particularly in the near term, reduce the savings that Nabors expects to achieve from the elimination of duplicative expenses and the realization of economies of scale and cost savings and revenue enhancements related to the integration of the businesses following the completion of the Arrangement, and accordingly, any anticipated net benefits may not be achieved in the near term or at all. These integration expenses may result in the combined company taking significant charges against earnings following the completion of the Arrangement.

The pendency of the Arrangement could adversely affect Nabors.

In connection with the pending Arrangement, some of Nabors' customers may delay or defer purchasing decisions, which could negatively impact revenues, earnings and cash flows regardless of whether the Arrangement is completed. Additionally, Nabors has agreed in the Arrangement agreement to refrain from taking certain actions with respect to its business and financial affairs during the pendency of the Arrangement. These restrictions could be in place for an extended period of time if completion of the Arrangement is delayed, and could adversely impact Nabors' financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Nabors' shareholders will be diluted by the Arrangement.

The Arrangement will dilute the ownership position of Nabors' current shareholders. We currently estimate that, upon completion of the Arrangement, Nabors' shareholders before the Arrangement will own approximately 90% of the combined company and former Tesco shareholders will own approximately 10% of the combined company's outstanding common stock.

Following the Arrangement, the combined company may be unable to successfully integrate Tesco's and Nabors' businesses and realize the anticipated benefits of the Arrangement.

The Arrangement involves the combination of two companies that historically have operated and currently operate as independent public companies. The success of Nabors' acquisition of Tesco will depend in large part on the success of the management of the combined company in integrating the operations, strategies, technologies and personnel of the two

Table of Contents

companies following the completion of the Arrangement. Nabors may fail to realize some or all of the anticipated benefits of the Arrangement if the integration process takes longer than expected or is more costly than expected. The failure of Nabors to meet the challenges involved in successfully integrating the operations of Tesco or to otherwise realize any of the anticipated benefits of the Arrangement, including additional cost savings and synergies, could impair the operations of Nabors. The combined company will be required to devote management attention and resources to integrating its business practices and operations, and prior to the Arrangement, management attention and resources will be required to plan for such integration.

Potential issues and difficulties the combined company may encounter in the integration process include the following:

- the inability to successfully integrate the respective businesses of Tesco and Nabors in a manner that permits the combined company to achieve the cost savings and operating synergies anticipated to result from the Arrangement, which could result in the anticipated benefits of the Arrangement not being realized partly or wholly in the time frame currently anticipated or at all;
- · lost sales and customers as a result of certain customers of either or both of the two companies deciding not to do business with the combined company, or deciding to decrease their amount of business in order to reduce their reliance on a single company;
- · integrating personnel from the two companies while maintaining focus on providing consistent, high quality products and customer service;
- potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the Arrangement; and
- performance shortfalls at one or both of the two companies as a result of the diversion of management's attention caused by completing the Arrangement and integrating the companies' operations.

Business issues currently faced by one company may be imputed to the operations of the other company.

To the extent that either Nabors or Tesco currently has or is perceived by customers to have operational challenges, such as on-time performance, safety issues or workforce issues, those challenges may raise concerns by existing customers of the other company following the Arrangement which may limit or impede Nabors' future ability to obtain additional work from those customers.

Failure to identify and retain key employees and skilled workers could adversely affect Nabors following the Arrangement.

Nabors' performance following the Arrangement could be adversely affected if the combined company is unable to identify and retain key employees and skilled workers of Tesco. It is possible that these employees may decide not to remain with Tesco while the Arrangement is pending or with the combined company after the Arrangement is

consummated. The loss of the services of one or more of such key employees and skilled workers could adversely affect Nabors' future operating results because of their experience and knowledge of Tesco's business. In addition, current and prospective employees of Nabors and Tesco may experience uncertainty about their future roles with the company until after the Arrangement is completed. This may adversely affect the ability of Nabors and Tesco to attract and retain key personnel, which could adversely affect Nabors' performance following the Arrangement.

The required regulatory approvals may not be obtained or may contain materially burdensome conditions that could have an adverse effect on Nabors.

Completion of the Arrangement is conditioned upon the receipt of certain governmental approvals, including, without limitation, the expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act, the approval of the Arrangement by the antitrust regulators in other specified jurisdictions and approval of court in Canada. Although Nabors and Tesco have agreed in the Arrangement agreement to use their reasonable best efforts to obtain the requisite governmental approvals, there can be no assurance that these approvals will be obtained. In addition, the governmental authorities from which these approvals are required may impose conditions on the completion of the Arrangement or require changes to the terms of the Arrangement.

Table of Contents

Under the terms of the Arrangement agreement, Nabors and Tesco each are required to use reasonable best efforts to resolve any governmental objection, actions, or proceedings so as to complete the Arrangement (including agreeing to sell, swap, hold separate, or otherwise dispose of or conduct its business or operations in a specified manner); provided that neither Nabors nor Tesco is required to undertake any action that would be reasonably likely to materially adversely affect Nabors and its subsidiaries, whether individually or taken as a whole, or the Company and its subsidiaries, whether individually or taken as a whole, after the effective date of the Arrangement. If Nabors or Tesco agrees to undertake divestitures or comply with operating restrictions in order to obtain any approvals required to complete the Arrangement, Nabors may be less able to realize the anticipated benefits of the Arrangement, and the business and results of operations of the combined company after the Arrangement may be adversely affected.

The market value of Nabors common stock could decline if large amounts of its common shares are sold following the Arrangement.

Following the Arrangement, shareholders of Nabors and former shareholders of Tesco will own interests in a combined company operating an expanded business with more assets and a different mix of liabilities. Current shareholders of Nabors and Tesco may not wish to continue to invest in the combined company, or may wish to reduce their investment in the combined company, in order to comply with institutional investing guidelines, to increase diversification or to track any rebalancing of stock indices in which Nabors or Tesco common stock is included. If, following the Arrangement, large amounts of Nabors common shares are sold, the price of its common shares could decline.

The Arrangement may not be accretive, and may be dilutive, to Nabors' earnings per share in the near term, which may negatively affect the market price of Nabors' common stock.

Nabors anticipates that the Arrangement will be accretive to earnings per share [by the end of the first year] after closing. However, the Arrangement may be dilutive to earnings per share in the near term. This expectation is based on preliminary estimates that may materially change. In addition, future events and conditions could decrease or delay any accretion, result in dilution or cause greater dilution than is currently expected, including:

- · adverse changes in energy market conditions;
- · commodity prices for oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids;
- · operating results;
- · competitive conditions;
- · laws and regulations affecting the energy business;
- · capital expenditure obligations; and
- · general economic conditions.

Any dilution of, or decrease or delay of any accretion to, Nabors' earnings per share could cause the price of Nabors' common stock to decline.

Table of Contents

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

We withheld the following shares of our common stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with grants of stock awards during the three months ended September 30, 2017 from the distributions described below. These shares may be deemed to be "issuer purchases" of shares that are required to be disclosed pursuant to this Item, but were not purchased as part of a publicly announced program to purchase common shares:

				Approximated
			Total Number	Dollar Value of
			of Shares	Shares that May
	Total	Average	Purchased as	Yet Be
	Number of	Price	Part of Publicly	Purchased
Period	Shares	Paid per	Announced	Under the
(In thousands, except per share amounts)	Repurchased	Share (1)	Program	Program (2)
July 1 - July 31	<1	\$ 7.87		298,716
August 1 - August 31	<1	\$ 6.50		298,716
September 1 - September 30	3	\$ 6.65	_	298,716

- (1) Shares were withheld from employees and directors to satisfy certain tax withholding obligations due in connection with grants of shares under our 2003 Employee Stock Plan, the 2013 Stock Plan and the 2016 Stock Plan. Each of the 2016 Stock Plan, the 2013 Stock Plan, the 2003 Employee Stock Plan and the 1999 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors provide for the withholding of shares to satisfy tax obligations, but do not specify a maximum number of shares that can be withheld for this purpose. These shares were not purchased as part of a publicly announced program to purchase common shares.
- (2) In August 2015, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program under which we may repurchase up to \$400 million of our common shares in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. Through September 30, 2017, we repurchased 10.9 million of our common shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$101.3 million under this program. As of September 30, 2017, we had \$298.7 million that remained authorized under the program that may be used to repurchase shares. The repurchased shares are held by our subsidiaries are registered and tradable subject to applicable securities law limitations and have the same voting, dividend and other rights as other outstanding shares. As of September 30, 2017, our subsidiaries held 49.7 million of our common shares.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES	
Not applicable.	
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION	
None.	
52	

Table of Contents

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit No.	Description
2.1	Arrangement Agreement, dated August 13, 2017, by and among Nabors Industries Ltd., Nabors
	Maple Acquisition Ltd., and Tesco Corporation (incorporate by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Form
	8-K (File No. 001-32657) filed with the SEC on August 16, 2017).
31.1	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Anthony G. Petrello, Chairman, President and Chief
	Executive Officer*
31.2	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of William Restrepo, Chief Financial Officer*
32.1	Certifications required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title
	18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350), executed by Anthony G. Petrello, Chairman, President
	and Chief Executive Officer and William Restrepo, Chief Financial Officer.*
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document*
101.SCH	XBRL Schema Document*
101.CAL	XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document*
101.LAB	XBRL Label Linkbase Document*
101.PRE	XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document*
101.DEF	XBRL Definition Linkbase Document*

^{*}Filed herewith.

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NABORS INDUSTRIES LTD.

By: /s/ ANTHONY G. PETRELLO

Anthony G. Petrello Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ WILLIAM RESTREPO

William Restrepo Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Accounting Officer)

Date: November 3, 2017